Institute of Dentistry, Department of Periodontology, University of Helsinki, Finland

CLONAL TYPES OF ORAL YEASTS IN RELATION TO AGE, HEALTH, AND GEOGRAPHY

Johanna Hannula

Academic Dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, for public discussion in the main auditorium of the Institute of Dentistry, Mannerheimintie 172, on 16 June, 2000, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2000

SUPERVISORS:

Docent Sirkka Asikainen, DDS, PhD Institute of Dentistry University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Docent Maria Saarela, PhD VTT Biotechnology VTT, Espoo, Finland

REVIEWERS:

Docent Malcolm D. Richardson, PhD, FIBiol, FRCPath Department of Bacteriology and Immunology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Docent Marianne Lenander-Lumikari, DDS, PhD Institute of Dentistry University of Turku Turku, Finland

OPPONENT:

Professor Casey Chen, DDS, PhD Department of Periodontology School of Dentistry University of Southern California Los Angeles, California, USA

> ISBN 952-91-2216-0 (nid.) ISBN 952-91-2270-5 (PDF version) Helsingin yliopiston verkkojulkaisut, Helsinki 2000

To Jussi

CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	6
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	9
THE ORAL CAVITY AS A HABITAT OF YEASTS	9
ORAL YEASTS IN HEALTH AND DISEASE	10
CANDIDOSIS	12
ACQUISITION OF ORAL YEASTS	14
CANDIDA ALBICANS	
Taxonomy	
Virulence factors	15
Characterization of <i>C. albicans</i> isolates	
Phenotyping	
Biotyping	
SerotypingGenotyping	
AIMS OF THE STUDY	22
MATERIAL AND METHODS	24
SUBJECTS AND YEAST ISOLATES	24
CULTURE AND IDENTIFICATION OF YEAST SPECIES	25
PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF THE YEAST ISOLATES	26
Biotyping	26
Serotyping	
Virulence factors	26
GENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF THE YEAST ISOLATES	27
DNA extraction	
Genotyping	27
STATISTICAL ANALYSES	27
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	28
ORAL YEAST SPECIES IN YOUNG CHILDREN	28
Occurrence	
Stability of colonization	
Yeast transmission from the mother	30

IDENTIFICATION, OCCURRENCE AND CHARACTERISTICS OF C. DUBI	
	32
INTERINDIVIDUAL HETEROGENEITY OF ORAL YEASTS	34
Geographical differences	34
Yeast species	
C. albicans biotypes and serotypes	35
C. albicans genotypes	35
C. albicans isolates in relation to systemic health	
Genotypes and virulence factors	36
INTRAINDIVIDUAL HETEROGENEITY OF ORAL YEASTS	37
Yeast species	
C. albicans serotypes and genotypes	
C. dubliniensis genotypes	
SUBGINGIVAL C. ALBICANS AND OCCURRENCE OF PERIODONTAL	
PATHOGENS	39
UMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	41
EFERENCES	44
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	57

ABBREVIATIONS

AIDS acquired immunodeficiency syndrome

APECED autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidosis-ectodermal dystrophy

AP-PCR arbitrarily primed polymerase chain reaction

CCUG Culture Collection, University of Göteborg, Sweden

CFU colony-forming unit
DNA deoxyribonucleic acid

EDTA ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid HIV human immunodeficiency virus

NCPF National Collection of Pathogenic Fungi

PCR polymerase chain reaction

RAPD randomly amplified polymorphic DNA

REA restriction endonuclease analysis

REP-PCR repetitive extragenic palindromic-polymerase chain reaction

RFLP restriction fragment length polymorphism

SDA Sabouraud dextrose agar

TSBV tryptic soy serum bacitracin vancomycin

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

I Hannula J, Saarela M, Jousimies-Somer H, Takala A, Syrjänen R, Könönen E, Asikainen S. Age-related acquisition of oral and nasopharyngeal yeast species and stability of colonization in young children. Oral Mirobiol Immunol 1999: 14: 176-182.

II Hannula J, Saarela M, Alaluusua S, Slots J, Asikainen S. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of oral yeasts from Finland and the United States. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1997: 12: 358-365.

III Hannula J, Dogan B, Slots J, Ökte E, Asikainen S. Subgingival strains of *Candida albicans* in relation to geographical origin and occurrence of periodontal pathogenic bacteria. Oral Microbiol Immunol, (submitted).

IV Hannula J, Saarela M, Dogan B, Paatsama J, Koukila-Kähkölä P, Pirinen S, Alakomi H-L, Perheentupa J, Asikainen S. Comparison of virulence factors of oral *Candida dubliniensis* and *Candida albicans* isolates in healthy persons and patients with chronic candidosis. Oral Microbiol Immunol, (in press).

INTRODUCTION

Yeasts are opportunistic pathogens and common members of the normal oral flora in humans. However, the source of early yeast infection and time and stability of colonization of yeast species are poorly understood. Yeasts have attracted growing interest among researchers due to the increased incidence of severe oral candidosis. The condition mainly results from the widespread use of antibiotics and rising proportions of aged and immunocompromised individuals in the population. *Candida albicans* is the most common yeast species in the human oral cavity. Immunocompromised individuals are, however, prone to infections by otherwise rare yeast species, such as *Candida dubliniensis*, *Candida tropicalis*, *Candida parapsilosis*, *Candida krusei*, *Candida kefyr*, *Candida glabrata*, and *Candida guilliermondii*. Among these, *C. dubliniensis* is a new, recently described species which was originally described from severe oral candidosis of subjects infected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and was therefore suspected of increased virulence.

In the oral cavity, yeasts can be found on mucosal surfaces and in saliva but also occasionally in inflamed periodontal pockets. However, their role in periodontal destruction is unknown. Subgingival yeasts may be merely innocent bystanders and only reflect colonization on oral surfaces. In some individuals the subgingival ecosystem may favor yeasts or enhance growth of certain yeast strains since yeast species or strains may vary in their ability to coaggregate with subgingival bacteria and to survive in the low oxyxen tension of the periodontal pocket. Thus, different yeast species or strains may colonize different areas in the oral cavity. Today, limited data exist on the interindividual and intraindividual heterogeneity of oral yeast species or strains, especially in systemically healthy subjects. Previous studies mainly included either immunocompromised individuals or only a single yeast isolate within a subject. Analyses of several strains within subjects are important, since even among strains of the same species virulence characteristics may vary.

In the present study, phenotypic and genotypic techniques were used to determine clonal diversity of oral yeast isolates from children and adults. The timing, stability, and infection route of oral yeast colonization in healthy young children up to the age of two years were addressed. To identify strains with increased pathogenic potential, clonal distribution and heterogeneity of oral *C. albicans* species was first determined between isolates recovered from geographically distant locales and systemically healthy subjects and then compared to those of isolates from subjects especially susceptible to yeast infections. Serotypes and genotypes of *C. albicans* isolates from periodontal pockets were related to subgingival ecology as assessed by the co-existence of various periodontopathogenic bacteria. Finally, certain virulence attributes were compared within *C. albicans* species and between *C. albicans* and *C. dubliniensis* species.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

THE ORAL CAVITY AS A HABITAT OF YEASTS

The oral cavity comprises diverse surfaces and microenvironments enabling colonization of a wide variety of microorganisms. Mucous membranes line the oral surfaces, which are pierced by teeth and ducts of the salivary glands. The flushing action of saliva removes non-adherent microorganisms from oral surfaces. Decreased saliva secretion (Parvinen & Larmas 1981, Meurman & Rantonen 1994, Almståhl et al. 1999) may result in increased recovery of yeasts, perhaps due to decreased quantities of candidacidal molecules, including lysozyme (Tobgi et al. 1988), histatins (Jainkittivong et al. 1998), peroxidases (Lenander-Lumikari 1992), and lactoferrin (Nikawa et al. 1993). On the other hand, saliva also contains microbial nutrients, such as glucose (Knight & Fletcher 1971), which facilitate proliferation of yeasts (Samaranayake et al. 1986a), and mucins, which contribute to adhesion of yeasts to oral surfaces (Hoffman & Haidaris 1993).

Candida species grow best under aerobic conditions but are also able to grow under elevated concentrations of CO₂ in air (Webster & Odds 1986). Reports on the ability of Candida albicans to grow in anaerobiosis have been equivocal (Kennedy 1981, Samaranayake et al. 1983, Webster & Odds 1986). Some oral sites with low oxygen tension, such as buccal folds and periodontal pockets (Eskow & Loesche 1971, Loesche et al. 1983), may not be favorable for the proliferation of Candida. Anaerobes grow at low oxygen tension (Loesche et al. 1983), negative oxidation-reduction potential (Kenney & Ash 1969), and basic pH (Eggert et al. 1991), an environment unfavorable for growth of yeasts.

C. albicans can form on oral surfaces an adherent biofilm together with other oral microbiota and host glycoproteins (Holmes et al. 1995). Coaggregation of Candida with oral bacteria is believed to play an important role in the establishment of candidal colonization and candidosis (Bagg & Silverwood 1986). C. albicans binds to bacteria such as viridans streptococci (Jenkinson et al. 1990, Holmes et al. 1996), Fusobacterium (Grimaudo & Nesbitt 1997), and Actinomyces species (Grimaudo et al. 1996). Coaggregation of yeast and streptococci may be enhanced by adsorption of salivary proteins by the streptococci to provide additional adhesin-receptor interactions (Holmes et al. 1995, O'Sullivan et al. 2000). The biofilm can persist as a sessile population of yeasts whose eradication would require removal of the base to which it adheres (Baillie & Douglas 1998).

In healthy individuals the oral recovery of yeasts is about 34% varying from 2% to 71% (Odds 1988b) probably due to the sampling method or site and study population (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Odds 1988b, Brambilla et al. 1992). The numbers of yeasts isolated from the oral cavity of healthy carriers are usually low. In hospitalized patients oral

yeasts are recovered from about 55%, the oral recovery of yeasts varying from 13% to 76% (Odds 1988b).

"The normal oral flora" and "commensals" are terms used for microbes that are almost always present in high numbers in the oral cavity of healthy individuals (Liljemark & Bloomquist 1988, Loesche 1988), meaning that they live in the host, and derive benefit from the host without causing injury (Liljemark & Bloomquist 1988, Asikainen & Chen 1999). Persons infected with disease-causing microbes are called carriers because they do not have symptomatic clinical disease, but can spread an infection to other persons (Salyers & Whitt 1994a). Yeasts can act as opportunistic pathogens, since they, as members of the normal flora, can cause disease in the compromised host (Liljemark & Bloomquist 1988, Cannon & Chaffin 1999). The persistent presence and multiplication of commensal yeast in the oral cavity is called colonization (Salyers & Whitt 1994a, Salyers & Whitt 1994b). The term "infection" is regarded as successful colonization and multiplication by yeasts capable of causing damage to the host in the oral cavity (Liljemark & Bloomquist 1988, Salyers & Whitt 1994b), and an infection that produces symptoms is known as disease (Salyers & Whitt 1994a). Infection can also be regarded as disruption of the host and production of a characteristic group of symptoms (Liljemark & Bloomquist 1988). For disease to occur, yeasts have to adhere and invade host tissues by passing through mucosal surfaces and spreading through the body, penetrating the host's defenses (Salyers & Whitt 1994a, Salyers & Whitt 1994b).

ORAL YEASTS IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

Yeasts are opportunistic pathogens but also regarded as members of the normal oral flora (Arendorf & Walker 1979, Odds 1988b). The dorsum of the tongue is the primary oral reservoir for yeasts (Arendorf & Walker 1980), but yeasts can be also recovered from other oral mucosae, tooth surfaces, and saliva (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Borromeo et al. 1992, Tillonen et al. 1999). In addition to the healthy oral cavity, yeasts have also been found in oral cavities showing dental diseases, such as enamel caries (Hodson & Craig 1972, Sziegoleit et al. 1999), root caries (Lynch & Beighton 1994), and periodontal disease (Slots et al. 1988, Rams & Slots 1991), but the role of yeasts in the etiology of these diseases remains unknown. However, yeasts may play a role in persistent apical periodontitis (Waltimo et al. 1997). High salivary *Candida* counts are related to increased prevalence of caries (Pienihäkkinen et al. 1987), probably because yeasts thrive in the acidic conditions which the caries lesion offers.

The levels of oral yeasts increase along with the presence of fixed or removable orthodontic appliances (Addy et al. 1982) and complete or partial dentures (Budtz-Jörgensen et al. 1975, Berdicevsky et al. 1980, Vandenbussche & Swinne 1984). Studies show that insufficient oral hygiene care and dentures are significant predisposing factors to oral

candidosis (Budtz-Jörgensen 1974). The underlying reasons include environmental changes beneath dentures, such as low pH (Budtz-Jörgensen 1990), which increases the adherence of *Candida* to epithelial and acrylic surfaces (Samaranayake et al. 1980, Samaranayake & MacFarlane 1982). Diets rich in carbohydrates have been suggested to predispose denture wearers to oral candidosis (Samaranayake 1990a). However, recently it has been shown that adding a high amount of refined carbohydrates to the diet of healthy subjects did not increase the number of *C. albicans*-positive subjects (Weig et al. 1999).

Some studies have suggested that tobacco smoking increases oral *Candida* carriage rates (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Kamma et al. 1999, Willis et al. 1999), whereas others have found no association between smoking and yeast carriage (Bastiaan & Reade 1982, Oliver & Shillitoe 1984, Liede et al. 1999). Nevertheless, smoking leads to localized epithelial alterations such as leukoplakic lesions which may enhance colonization of oral *Candida* (Rindum et al. 1994).

C. albicans is the most commonly isolated yeast species in the oral cavity both in health and disease (Odds 1988b). It accounts for about 47% to 75% of the oral yeast isolates, while other medically important yeast pathogens, Candida tropicalis, Candida parapsilosis, Candida krusei, Candida kefyr, Candida glabrata, and Candida guilliermondii, each represent less than 10% of isolates (Odds 1988b). According to recent reports yeast species other than C. albicans cause increasing number of infections (Hazen 1995), including arthritis, osteomyelitis, endocarditis, endopthalmitis, meningitis, and fungemia (Fridkin & Jarvis 1996).

Yeasts, especially *C. albicans* (Slots et al. 1988, Rams & Slots 1991), are recovered not only from the oral mucosae, but are also recovered from periodontal pockets in some patients with adult periodontitis (20%) (Slots et al. 1988, Rams et al. 1990, Slots et al. 1990, Dahlén & Wikström 1995). It is not known whether subgingival *C. albicans* or other yeasts participate in the pathogenesis of destructive periodontal disease, or whether the organism is merely an innocent bystander in periodontal pockets indicating its colonization or even candidal disease at other oral sites. Periodontitis is generally regarded as a mixed bacterial infection (Haffajee & Socransky 1994) for which anaerobic gram-negative bacteria (Slots 1979, Haffajee & Socransky 1994), including *Porphyromonas gingivalis* and *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans*, and additionally *Bacteroides forsythus, Prevotella intermedia* sensu lato, and *Campylobacter rectus*, are the primary etiological agents (Zambon 1996). As stated, *Candida* species and anaerobic periodontal pathogens clearly differ in their growth requirements. Therefore, it can be anticipated that they are not able to thrive for extended periods of time in the same highly specified ecological niche. However, it is possible that ecological changes, e.g. those due to antibiotics (Helovuo 1986, Rams et al. 1990) or

immunocompromising disease or treatment (Slots & Rams 1991) may lead to subgingival yeast overgrowth and even superinfections.

CANDIDOSIS

Candida infections are called candidosis or candidiasis, terms used in the literature as synonyms. The International Society for Human and Animal Mycology (1980) has suggested the term "candidosis", while the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (1982) recommends "candidiasis". The former term will be used in this thesis.

Several factors, such as virulence of the infecting yeast strains, host resistance, and various environmental factors, including sugars and antibacterial drugs (Scully et al. 1994), influence risk for the development of candidosis (Samaranayake 1990b). Despite intense research, no single particular virulence factor of any yeast species has been found to cause candidosis (Cutler 1991, Matthews 1994, Odds 1994). Rather, a combination of virulence mechanisms, such as adhesins, rapid phenotypic switching, hyphal growth, and secretion of hydrolytic enzymes, seems to be responsible for the development of candidosis, since at different stages of candidosis different virulence factors are expressed (Cutler 1991).

An association exists between candidosis and diseases leading to suppression in systemic and local host defenses (Samaranayake 1990a) (Table 1). For instance, in immunocompromising endocrine disorders, including diabetes mellitus, the frequency of oral candidosis increases (Dorocka-Bobkowska et al. 1996, Vitkov et al. 1999). In malignant diseases without therapy the incidence of oral candidosis is greater than in healthy subjects (Scully et al. 1994). Immunosuppressive and corticosteroid therapy lower the host resistance to microbial infections and oral candidosis (Odds 1988c), and the use of broad-spectrum antibiotics suppresses the competing indigenous bacterial flora (Seelig 1966), predisposing the host to over-growth of *Candida* and subsequently to the development of candidosis. In immunocompromised hosts, oral and non-oral candidosis may develop as an endogenous infection (Powderly et al. 1993, Voss et al. 1994) but also can be due to the replacement of original commensal strains by a new invader (Schmid et al. 1992, Powderly et al. 1993). Additionally, altered nutritional status of the host, including iron deficiency (Higgs 1973, Fletcher et al. 1975) and folate deficiency (Samaranayake & MacFarlane 1981), are associated with oral candidosis.

Table 1. Factors, proposed in the literature, predisposing to oral candidosis.

Local factors ^a	Systemic factors	
Mucosal barrier	Certain physiological states	
Ill-fitting dental appliances	Infancy	
Trauma	Old age	
Changes in oral environmental conditions	Endocrine disorders	
Inadequate home care of oral dental appliances	Diabetes	
Endogenous epithelial changes Hypothyroidism		
Atrophy Nutritional deficiencies		
Hyperplasia	Iron deficiency	
Dysplasia	Folate deficiency	
Saliva	Vitamin B_{12} deficiency	
Quantitative changes	Malignancies	
Xerostomia	Acute leukemia	
Hyposalivation	Agranulocytosis	
Qualitative changes	Immune defects	
pН	HIV infection	
Glucose concentration	Thymic aplasia	
Bacteria-yeast coaggregation	Pharmacotherapy	
High-carbohydrate diet	Broad-spectrum antibiotics	
Tobacco smoking	Corticosteroids	
	Cytotoxic drugs	

^a Modified from Samaranayake (1990a), Scully et al. (1994) and Budtz-Jörgensen & Lombardi (1996).

The most frequently used classification to describe various types of oral candidosis is by Lehner (Lehner 1967). The categories in Lehner's classification include acute pseudomembranous candidosis, acute atrophic candidosis, chronic atrophic candidosis, and chronic hyperplastic candidosis. The latter comprises chronic oral candidosis, endocrine candidosis syndrome, chronic localized mucocutaneous candidosis, and chronic diffuse candidosis (Lehner 1964).

Acute pseudomembranous candidosis, commonly referred to as oral thrush (Samaranayake & Yaacob 1990), is characterized by whitish plaques on tongue and oral mucosal surfaces (Korting 1989, Samaranayake & Holmstrup 1989, Holmstrup & Axéll 1990). After removal of plaque, the erythematous mucosal base is exposed. The acute atrophic candidosis, also called midline glossitis or median rhomboid glossitis (Samaranayake & Yaacob 1990), is a possible consequence of the removal of the pseudomembrane (Holmstrup & Axéll 1990). It typically appears on the midline of the dorsal surface of the tongue and is often associated with loss of lingual papillae. In chronic atrophic candidosis, or denture stomatitis (Samaranayake & Yaacob 1990), chronic erythema is usually seen in the palate underlying the denture (Budtz-Jörgensen & Bertram 1970). Denture stomatitis is frequently associated with angular cheilitis, or perléche (Korting 1989, Samaranayake & Yaacob 1990). In chronic hyperplastic candidosis, or *Candida* leukoplakia (Samaranayake & Yaacob 1990), the whitish plaques—which vary from barely palpable patches to firmly

adherent rough plaques on the tongue, palate, or buccal mucosa—are not easily scraped off (Korting 1989, Samaranayake & Holmstrup 1989).

The antifungal agents used currently in the treatment of oral candidosis are azoles: clotrimazole, miconazole, ketonazole, itraconazole, and fluconazole, polyenes: nystatin and amphotericin B, and the disinfectant chlorhexidine gluconate (Budtz-Jörgensen & Lombardi 1996, Cross et al. 2000). The azoles inhibit the cytochrome P-450 enzyme, lanosterol 14α demethylase, in fungal organisms and block steroid synthesis in the fungal cell membrane. This interference leads to increased permeability of the cell membrane (White 1997). The polyenes target ergosterol in the fungal plasma membrane and form pores, leading to increased membrane permeability (White 1997). Chlorhexidine may mainly inhibit the adherence of *Candida* species to oral mucosa and acrylic surfaces (Budtz-Jörgensen & Lombardi 1996).

ACQUISITION OF ORAL YEASTS

Knowledge of the potential sources of yeasts colonizing the oral cavities of infants is limited. The mother's vaginal canal has been suggested as one source of oral yeasts in newborns (Kozinn et al. 1958, Alteras & Aryeli 1980, Baley et al. 1986). Since *C. albicans* is the most common yeast species in the vagina (64-72% of yeast isolates) (Sonck 1978, Goldacre et al. 1981), it is unlikely that infants would commonly acquire other yeast species besides *C. albicans* from their mothers during the delivery. Other possible origins of oral yeasts to the newborn are the hands, skin, mouth, and throat of people taking care of the infant (Pedersen 1969, Sharp et al. 1992, Weems 1992, Sanchez et al. 1993). Only a few studies exist, mainly case-reports, on person-to-person transmission of oral yeasts between family members, such as between husband and wife (Schmid et al. 1990, Mehta et al. 1999), between siblings (Mehta et al. 1999), and between a parent and child (Mehta et al. 1999). Therefore, further studies using larger study populations are needed to determine whether the mother or other care-givers may be major sources of oral yeast infection in early childhood.

C. albicans can be recovered from environmental samples, such as water, soil, and plants, with human or animal sources probably the origin of the organism (Odds 1988b). C. albicans survives well on moist surfaces and can be isolated from the toothbrushes of subjects with oral yeasts (Koch & Koch 1981). It may also survive in eye cosmetics (Wilson et al. 1971) and hand cream (France 1968). An endophthalmitis outbreak in drug addicts was thought to result from a contaminated diluent used in injections (Shankland & Richardson 1988). In hospitals, Candida species are a frequent finding in air, in foods, and on floors and other surfaces (Odds 1988b). Therefore, a nosocomial source is possible if hospitalized

patients acquire oral yeasts (Schmid et al. 1990, Vazquez et al. 1993, Robert et al. 1995). In immunocompromised HIV-infected couples, both partners have harbored oral yeasts (Sangeorzan et al. 1994) and among 60% (3/5) of these couples the same *C. albicans* strain was recovered from both partners (Sangeorzan et al. 1994). In contrast, systemically healthy partners of subjects with HIV infection did not usually harbor oral yeasts (Sangeorzan et al. 1994).

CANDIDA ALBICANS

Taxonomy

C. albicans belongs to the kingdom Fungi, the division Eumycota (true fungi), the biologically diverse class Deuteromycetes or Fungi Imperfecti and to the genus Candida (Carlile & Watkinson 1996). The genus Candida comprises more than 150 species (Odds 1987) which are characteristically white asporogenous yeasts able to form pseudohyphae. Species within the genus *Candida* are characterized primarily by colonial morphology, carbon assimilation, and fermentation capabilities (Larone 1995). Candida species grow well at 20°C to 38°C (Odds 1988a) and within the pH range from 2.5 to 7.5 (Odds 1988a), although a low pH (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Parvinen & Larmas 1981) even below pH 2 (Odds & Abbott 1980) especially favors their proliferation. Candidal cells primarily multiply by budding. Yeast cells are ovoid, 3 x 5 µm in size. C. albicans is a simple diploid eukaryote organism lacking a sexual cycle. It grows in two forms, as a yeast (synonyms: blastospore; blastoconidium) and as a hypha (synonym: mycelium). C. albicans, but also Candida dubliniensis, produces germ tubes and chlamydospores. C. dubliniensis has been designated as a separate yeast species, since it comprises a homogeneous genetic cluster, phylogenetically distinct from the other Candida species (Sullivan et al. 1995). On the other hand, because of the high DNA homology of C. albicans and C. stellatoidea (Donnelly et al. 1999), C. stellatoidea has been reclassified and moved to the species C. albicans as a sucrosenegative variant of *C. albicans* (McCullough et al. 1999a).

Virulence factors

To colonize the oral cavity, *C. albicans* has to adhere to host surfaces (Cannon & Chaffin 1999). *C. albicans* is a component of the adherent biofilm, as are bacteria, such as streptococci and salivary glycoproteins on mucosal and acrylic surfaces (Holmes et al. 1995, Cannon & Chaffin 1999). Adherence to such surfaces as human buccal epithelial cells (Barrett-Bee et al. 1985, Gilfillan et al. 1998) and acrylic surfaces (McCourtie et al. 1986, Nair & Samaranayake 1996) differs among yeast species. During recent years a vast amount of work has been put to clarify the adherence mechanism, which is thought to be a key factor

in the virulence. *C. albicans* possesses multiple adhesins and perhaps more than one adhesin exists that recognizes a host ligand or cell. To date, most adhesins identified are mannoprotein and in adherence, protein and/or carbohydrate portions have been implicated (Cannon & Chaffin 1999). Yeast forms are considered responsible for colonizing epithelia, but the hyphae are regarded as invasive structures of yeasts related to yeast infection (Cutler 1991). Hyphal growth, initiated by germ tube formation (Barnes et al. 1983, Cutler 1991, Kretschmar et al. 1999), increases adherence properties of yeasts (Samaranayake & MacFarlane 1982, Odds 1994). Thigmotropism, contact sensing, may aid hyphae in penetrating tissues (Sherwood et al. 1992) (Table 2).

C. albicans evades host defenses, for instance by modulating phagocytic host defense mechanisms or immune response by means of its surface properties including hydrophobicity and by changing its surface structures with phenotypic switching (Diamond 1993). When nutritionally stressed, C. albicans is able to adapt to different host microenvironments by rapid switching of its phenotype (Soll 1992) or by secreting low molecular weight, iron-chelating compounds known as siderophores (Sweet & Douglas 1991b, Howard 1999). Additionally, C. albicans and other Candida species secrete hydrolases, including proteinases, phospholipases, lipases, hexosaminidase, and phosphomonoesterase (Ruechel 1990, White et al. 1993, Odds 1994, Wu & Samaranayake 1999, Ghannoum 2000) and produce acidic metabolites including short-chain carboxylic acids (Ruechel 1990), and toxic substances, such as carcinogenic nitrosamines (Krogh et al. 1987a). Enzymatic and metabolic activities damage host cells and subsequently may interrupt the host cell functions. Although C. dubliniensis is a closely related species to C. albicans, little information is available on its virulence.

Table 2. Putative virulence factors of *C. albicans*.

Virulence factor^a

Adherence

Persorption

Dimorphism

Germ tubes

Rapid switching of expressed phenotype

Thigmotropism

Surface hydrophobicity

Molecular mimicry

Interference with phagocytosis, immune defences and complement

Synergism with certain bacteria

Extracellular hydrolases (proteinases, lipases)

Anaphylatoxins

Killer toxins

Nitrosamines

Acidic metabolites

Growth rate

Undemanding nutrient requirement

^a Modified from Ruechel (1990), Cutler (1991) and Odds (1994).

Characterization of *C. albicans* isolates

Since *C. albicans* is a member of the normal oral flora (Arendorf & Walker 1979, Odds 1988b) but is also able to cause oral and systemic candidosis, it is possible that the pathogenic potential among *C. albicans* strains varies. Methods have therefore been developed to distinguish among *C. albicans* strains. An optimal method for strain distinction should be (1) capable of discriminating between epidemiologically unrelated strains, (2) be reproducible, (3) not too laborious, (4) able to process a large number of strains, and (5) comparatively inexpensive. Methods described in the literature for differentiating yeast strains will be discussed below.

Phenotyping

Biotyping

Biotyping is based on differences in metabolic properties of yeast isolates. The methods used for biotyping *C. albicans* isolates include a system of nine biochemical assessments based on tests for acid and salt tolerance, proteinase production, resistance to 5-fluorocytosine and safranine, and assimilation of urea, sorbose, citrate, and glycine (Odds & Abbott 1980). Later, a test for boric acid resistance was added to the panel (Odds & Abbott 1983). A widely used commercial test, API ZYM, includes 19 hydrolytic enzyme reactions, and a commercial API 20C system tests for assimilation of 19 different carbohydrates. Additionally, a combination of these systems: API ZYM, API 20C, and resistance to boric acid, has been used for biotyping *C. albicans* isolates (Williamson et al. 1987).

Except for the API ZYM system, the other biotyping methods differentiate well among *C. albicans* isolates (Hunter 1991). The API ZYM system revealed only 4 to 9 *C. albicans* biotypes from 126 to 213 clinical *C. albicans* isolates, whereas the other biotyping methods distinguished 7 to 45 *C. albicans* biotypes from 23 to 130 subjects and isolates (Odds & Abbott 1980, Williamson et al. 1986a, Krogh et al. 1987b, Williamson et al. 1987, Korting et al. 1988, Rams & Slots 1991, Xu & Samaranayake 1995). Although the biotyping method of Odds and Abbott (1980), which includes nine biochemical tests, allows in theory differentiation of *C. albicans* into 512 biotypes, 160 *C. albicans* biotypes were found among more than 700 isolates (Odds et al. 1983a, Odds et al. 1983b). This finding led to a suggestion that all the theoretically possible 512 biotypes may not occur in nature (Odds et al. 1983a, Odds et al. 1983b). Despite the broad variety of biotypes, one to two *C. albicans* biotypes have commonly been predominant (21-75%) among clinical *C. albicans* isolates (Román & Sicilia 1983, Williamson et al. 1986a, Williamson et al. 1986b, Krogh et al. 1987b, Williamson et al. 1987, Korting et al. 1988, Rams & Slots 1991, Xu & Samaranayake 1995).

The distribution of oral *C. albicans* biotypes differs between distant geographical locales (Odds et al. 1983b, Xu & Samaranayake 1995). However, the same *C. albicans* biotypes are found, and even the same *C. albicans* biotypes have been shown to predominate in samples from diverse geographical locations (Williamson et al. 1986a, Williamson et al. 1987, Korting et al. 1988, Asakura et al. 1991, Rams & Slots 1991, Xu & Samaranayake 1995). No data have been published on oral *C. albicans* biotype diversity among Finnish subjects other than that of Study II and of Waltimo (2000) on 37 *C. albicans* isolates from apical periodontitis. Additionally, studies on *C. albicans* biotype diversity in diseased periodontal pockets are limited (Rams & Slots 1991), although other oral and non-oral sites have been studied more intensively (Odds et al. 1983b, Williamson et al. 1987, Xu & Samaranayake 1995).

Within an individual, identical *C. albicans* biotypes have been concurrently isolated from different anatomical sites (Odds & Abbott 1980, Odds et al. 1983a). *C. albicans* strains of the same biotype usually persist within a subject (Odds & Abbott 1980, Odds et al. 1983a). However, when the sampling interval was longer than 15 weeks, both oral and non-oral *C. albicans* biotypes had a tendency to change (Odds et al. 1989).

No consistent association has been found in the literature between certain *C. albicans* biotypes and oral or non-oral candidosis (Odds et al. 1983a, Odds et al. 1983b, Krogh et al. 1987b, Xu & Samaranayake 1995).

Serotyping

Serotyping of micro-organisms is based on detection of the reaction between the antigen and the antibody raised against it. The methods commonly used for serotyping *C. albicans* include Hasenclever tube agglutination (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1961a) and its modification using a slide agglutination test (Drouhet et al. 1975, Stiller et al. 1982). These tests are based on agglutination reactions of *C. albicans* cells and antisera raised in rabbits against *C. albicans* serotype A or B strains (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1961a, Brawner & Cutler 1989). A commercial slide agglutination test uses monospecific antiserum raised in rabbits immunized with extracted polysaccharide antigens of *C. albicans* serotype A cells (Iatron factor 6) (Fukazawa et al. 1968, Shinoda et al. 1981). Additionally, *C. albicans* serotyping has been carried out by indirect immunofluorescence assays using either serotype A-specific rabbit antiserum (Auger et al. 1979) or monoclonal antibodies (H9) against extracted mannans of *C. albicans* serotype A (Miyakawa et al. 1986), and recently, by flow cytometry based on detection of immunocomplexes of the fluorescein-coupled antiserum of Hasenclever or Iatron factor 6 and *C. albicans* cells (Mercure et al. 1996).

The serotyping techniques may give different results for the same *C. albicans* strains (Brawner 1991). Slide agglutination tests using monoclonal antibody (H9) have matched poorly with those using Iatron factor 6, probably because the immunoreagents recognize

different *C. albicans* antigens. Additionally, in the Hasenclever tube agglutination technique, different lots of antisera (produced in different animals) resulted in different serotype results (Brawner 1991). Flow cytometry has been suggested to be more reliable than slide immunofluorescence for serotyping *C. albicans* isolates, since in flow cytometry the difficulty of subjective interpretation of results is eliminated (Mercure et al. 1996).

Hasenclever and Mitchell first demonstrated two serotypes, A and B, among *C. albicans* isolates (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1961a). Serotype differences are based on differences in mannan branches in the cell wall of *C. albicans* (Kobayashi et al. 1992). The antigenic differences result from variations in the bonding positions between mannose residues and the number of residues in mannan side chains (Kobayashi et al. 1992). A third *C. albicans* serotype, serotype C, was proposed in an early study (Müller & Kirchhoff 1969), but it has not been widely accepted among researchers. Due to the current distinction between two *C. albicans* serotypes, serotyping seems to be a rather ineffective tool for epidemiological purposes.

The distribution of the two serotypes of *C. albicans* differs geographically. *C. albicans* serotype A isolates are more frequently found in European countries (Stallybrass 1964, Drouhet et al. 1975) than in North America (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1963, Auger et al. 1979, Stiller et al. 1982). The distribution of C. albicans serotypes has been mainly studied in samples originating from non-oral body sites (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1963, Stallybrass 1964, Drouhet et al. 1975, Auger et al. 1979, Stiller et al. 1982). In oral candidosis, C. albicans serotype A is most commonly recovered (Martin & Lamb 1982, McMullan-Vogel et al. 1999). On the other hand, researchers agree that the occurrence of C. albicans serotype B isolates are associated with declining immune status (Brawner & Cutler 1989, Brawner et al. 1992). No relationship has, however, been found between *C. albicans* serotypes and virulence characteristics (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1961b), except for the results presented in a study by Kwon-Chung et al. (1988). They showed that sucrose-negative variants of C. albicans serotype B isolates failed to produce infection in mice, whereas C. albicans serotype A caused infections with 80% to 90% mortality. It has been suggested that C. albicans serotype Aspecific antigens are involved in the adherence of *C. albicans* serotype A isolates to human buccal epithelial cells (Miyakawa et al. 1992). However, no difference has been found between the two C. albicans serotypes as to their adherence to buccal epithelial cells (Imbert-Bernard et al. 1994).

Within one individual, the distribution of *C. albicans* serotypes is similar at different anatomical sites (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1963). Additionally, in repeated samplings, *C. albicans* isolates are usually of the same serotype (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1963). However, it is not known whether different *C. albicans* serotypes thrive in particular oral sites such as

periodontal pockets and whether some bacteria enhance colonization of different *C. albicans* serotypes in that ecological niche.

Genotyping

Recent advances in molecular biology have provided powerful tools for strain distinction of C. albicans strains. The earliest molecular methods used for fingerprinting C. albicans strains were karyotyping, restriction endonuclease analysis (REA), and restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP). In karyotyping, very large chromosome-sized DNA molecules can be separated with pulsed-field electrophoresis. REA determines variation in the yeast genomes using various restriction endonucleases to detect differences in restriction endonuclease cutting sites (in DNA sequences). In RFLP, fragments obtained by REA are hybridized with DNA probes. REA generates a fingerprint pattern, with a higher number of genomic restriction fragments than RFLP. However, the greater C. albicans genotype discrimination ability of RFLP than of REA among clinical isolates (Diaz-Guerra et al. 1997) is probably due to the less difficult interpretation of the RFLP fingerprints. In RFLP a wide variety of probes, including a ribosomal DNA probe (Magee et al. 1987), a mitochondrial DNA probe (Fox et al. 1989), a C. albicans-specific repetitive sequence DNA probe 27A (Scherer & Stevens 1988, Fox et al. 1989), and a DNA midrepeat sequence probe Ca3 (Soll et al. 1987, 1989, 1991, Schmid et al. 1990, 1992, 1993, Hellstein et al. 1993, Schröppel et al. 1994, Lockhart et al. 1995, 1996), have been used for the intraspecies discrimination of C. albicans. RFLP analysis, especially with the widely used probe Ca3, has been reproducible and suitable for differentiating C. albicans isolates. In arbitrarily primed polymerase chain reaction (AP-PCR) analysis (Welsh & McClelland 1990) (synonym: randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis) (Williams et al. 1990), the genomic DNA is used as a template and amplified at a low annealing temperature, with use of a single short primer (9 to 10 bases) of an arbitrary sequence. AP-PCR is faster and technically less demanding to perform than REA or RFLP, and it requires smaller amounts of target DNA. However, the reproducibility of AP-PCR is dependent upon the careful standardization of the PCR conditions, and the discriminatory power is dependent on the primer used and optimization of the assay (Williams et al. 1990, Bostock et al. 1993, Dassanayake & Samaranayake 2000). Although RFLP has been more discriminatory than AP-PCR (Pujol et al. 1997) and REA (Diaz-Guerra et al. 1997) it is time-consuming and laborious and thus not well suitable for routine epidemiological studies.

At the end of the 1980s, the molecular biological techniques REA and RFLP were introduced for genotyping *C. albicans*. Later, in the beginning of the 1990s, AP-PCR was introduced for fingerprinting *C. albicans* isolates. Prior studies, mainly using REA and RFLP, indicate that the genetic diversity of *C. albicans* is high, and that certain *C. albicans*

genotypes are geographically widely distributed (Stevens et al. 1990, McCullough et al. 1999b, Schmid et al. 1999) but also that geographical specificity exists among oral and non-oral *C. albicans* isolates (Schmid et al. 1993, Clemons et al. 1997, McCullough et al. 1999b).

Within a subject, usually the same *C. albicans* genotype (Scherer & Stevens 1987, Fox et al. 1989, Stevens et al. 1990, Whelan et al. 1990) but also different genotypes have been recovered from different body sites (Scherer & Stevens 1988, Soll et al. 1989, Schmid et al. 1990, Xu et al. 1999). A study including four subjects reported a simultaneous recovery of multiple oral *C. albicans* genotypes both from a HIV-negative and a HIV-positive subject (Howell et al. 1996). The same *C. albicans* genotypes usually persist over time in oral and non-oral body sites (Fox et al. 1989, Soll et al. 1989, Whelan et al. 1990).

Similar *C. albicans* genotypes appear in subjects with and without candidosis (Powderly et al. 1992, Hellstein et al. 1993) and from oral candidosis of subjects with and without HIV infection (Whelan et al. 1990, Howell et al. 1996). This is consistent with the suggestion that candidosis is not caused by a unique or particularly virulent *C. albicans* strain but more likely by a defect in host defense mechanisms (Whelan et al. 1990). To date, the majority of studies have focused on studying *C. albicans* isolates from HIV-infected patients. Of interest would be to see whether other immunocompromised patients with candidosis harbor similar oral *C. albicans* genotypes as healthy subjects.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of the present study were:

- to determine the timing and stability of yeast colonization, and the occurrence of various yeast species in the oral cavity of young children
- to clarify the role of the mother's oral cavity as a possible source of oral yeasts to her child
- to determine the identity and diversity of yeast species recovered from the oral cavity of systemically healthy adults
- to determine the clonal heterogeneity of subgingival *C. albicans* isolates within and between systemically healthy individuals from geographically distant locales
- to determine the relationship between the recovery of *C. albicans* and the simultaneous occurrence of periodontal pathogens
- to study whether differences exist in virulence attributes between *C. dubliniensis* and *C. albicans* and in the distribution of genotypes within each species between healthy individuals and those susceptible to yeast infections

Table 3. Yeast isolates and subjects in Studies I-IV and methods used for culture and characterization of yeast isolates.

Study	Yeast isolates/Subjects ^{a,b}	Origin of yeast isolates	Methods
I	Oral yeast isolates (N=104; 1-17 isolates/subject) from 80 subjects	Mother-child pairs (N=40) from Finland	Non-selective and selective agar media, including SDA and TSBV CHROMagar AP-PCR (primer OPA-03)
II	Oral yeast isolates (N=362; 4-22 isolates/subject) from - oral mucosa (N=52) - subgingival sites (N=168) - saliva (N=142)	Yeast-positive subjects from Finland (N=29) and the United States (N=19) The subjects exhibited - non-periodontitis (N=15) - adult periodontitis (N=32) - early-onset periodontitis (N=1)	SDA, TSBV CHROMagar Assimilation of carbohydrates AP-PCR (primer OPA-03) REP-PCR (primer (GACA) ₄)
III	Subgingival <i>C. albicans</i> isolates (N=300; 5 isolates/subject)	<i>C. albicans</i> -positive routine dental clinic patients from Finland (N=20), the United States (N=20), and Turkey (N=20)	TSBV CHROMagar Serotyping AP-PCR (primer OPE-03)
IV	Oral yeast isolates (N=93; 1-5 isolates/subject) C. albicans isolates (N=67) from - cheek mucosa (N=5) - saliva (N=36) - tongue (N=26) C. dubliniensis isolates (N=26) from - saliva (N=11) - subgingival sites (N=15)	Yeast-positive subjects (N=40) - C. albicans-positive routine dental clinic patients (N=9) and one child - C. albicans-positive patients with APECED ^c syndrome (N=21) - C. dubliniensis-positive routine dental clinic patients (N=9) ^d	SDA, TSBV CHROMagar AP-PCR (primer OPE-03) Virulence characteristics: - high-frequency phenotypic switching - phospholipase production - proteinase production - siderophore production

^a A total of 812 yeast isolates from 217 subjects were included in Studies I-IV. Several of the isolates were analyzed in more than one study. ^b If not otherwise mentioned, the subjects showed no known disorder of the immune system or received no immunosuppressive medications. ^c autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidosis-ectodermal dystrophy ^d Six patients from Finland and three from the United States.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

SUBJECTS AND YEAST ISOLATES

Detailed descriptions of the material and methods are presented in the original publications.

A total of 812 clinical strains from 217 subjects were included in the Studies I-IV (Table 3). The 13 reference strains are shown in Table 4.

Table 4. Reference strains in Studies I-IV.

Yeast species	Reference strains	
C. albicans	NCPF 3179 (serotype A)	
C. albicans	CCUG 42415 (serotype B)	
C. dubliniensis	CD 36 ^a	
C. famata	CCUG 662	
C. glabrata	NCPF 3309	
C. guilliermondii	CCUG 35875	
C. intermedia	CCUG 38422	
C. krusei	NCPF 3848	
C. lusitaniae	NCPF 3516	
C. marxianus=C. kefyr	CCUG 34328	
C. parapsilosis	NCPF 3872	
C. tropicalis	NCPF 3290	
S. cerevisiae	Baker's yeast	

^a A gift from D.L. Sullivan, Dublin, Ireland.

Study I was a prospective 22-month follow-up study, part of a comprehensive study on factors affecting the carriage of respiratory pathogens and upper respiratory infections in Finnish children from infancy up to two years of age. Unstimulated salivary samples of 40 children (21 females and 19 males) were collected with a sterile plastic pipette at the ages of 2, 6, 12, 18, and 24 months, and paraffin-stimulated salivary samples were collected from their mothers (mean age 29 years, SD 5.6) at baseline. All salivary samples were cultured for yeasts. Consecutive mother-child pairs participating at every sampling occasion were included.

In Studies II to IV only yeast-positive subjects were included.

Study II used a cross-sectional study design. A total of 362 yeast isolates (4-22 isolates/subject) for the study originated in the oral mucosae (52 isolates), periodontal pockets (168 isolates), and salivary samples (142 isolates) of 48 subjects (mean age 43 years, SD 17 years; 25 women and 23 men) with no known immunosuppressive conditions or medications. Consecutive yeast-positive routine dental clinic patients were included. Twenty-nine of these subjects were Finnish and 19 American. The periodontal status of these subjects included

non-periodontitis (N=15), adult periodontitis (N=32), and early-onset periodontitis (N=1). Except for two siblings, all subjects were unrelated to each other.

Study III was cross-sectional. The material consisted of 300 subgingival *C. albicans* isolates (5 isolates/subject) from 60 *C. albicans*-positive consecutive routine dental clinic patients from Finland (20 subjects; 11 women and 9 men; mean age 54.7 years, SD 10.8 years), the United States (20 subjects; 11 women and 7 men; ages unknown; 2 subjects of unknown gender and age), and Turkey (20 subjects; 12 women and 8 men; mean age 31.8 years, SD 10.8 years). The subjects in Study III differed from those of Study II.

Study IV was cross-sectional. The material, 93 yeast isolates (1-5 isolates/subject) from oral samples of 40 subjects, comprised 67 *C. albicans* isolates recovered from cheek mucosa (5 isolates), saliva (36 isolates), and tongue (26 isolates) and 26 *C. dubliniensis* isolates recovered from saliva (11 isolates) and subgingival sites (15 isolates). Nine consecutive Finnish routine dental clinic patients and one Finnish child were chosen for the study. Inclusion criteria included no known disorder of the immune system (defined as healthy subjects) and *C. albicans*-positive oral samples. All 21 Finnish *C. albicans*-positive patients with immuno-compromising autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidosis-ectodermal dystrophy (APECED) syndrome were included. The *C. dubliniensis* isolates (N=26) were from all nine routine dental clinic patients (6 Finnish subjects, 3 American subjects) with this yeast species and with no known disorder of the immune system (defined as healthy).

CULTURE AND IDENTIFICATION OF YEAST SPECIES

The oral yeast samples obtained from the oral cavities of the study subjects were inoculated on several non-selective and selective agar media including Sabouraud dextrose agar with antibiotics (G-penicillin 20 U/ml, streptomycin 25 μ g/ml) (Table 3). The samples were cultured in the microbiology laboratories of the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki; School of Dentistry, University of Southern California; the National Public Health Institute, Helsinki; and the Mycology Laboratory, Helsinki University Hospital.

The identification of clinical isolates of *C. albicans, C. dubliniensis, C. glabrata, C. guilliermondii, Candida intermedia, C. krusei, C. lusitaniae, C. parapsilosis,* and *C. tropicalis* was carried out by established methods (Larone 1995, Sullivan et al. 1995) and commercial kits (bioMèrieux Vitek, Lyon, France; CHROMagar, Paris, France; Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI, USA) presented in more detail in the original publications (Studies I-IV).

For all studies of this thesis, the single-colony yeast subcultures stored in 20% skim milk (Difco Laboratories) at -70°C were revived by culturing on Sabouraud dextrose agar plates (Sabouraud dextrose, Oxoid, Hampshire, UK) or CHROMagar Candida Medium plates

(CHROMagar, Paris, France). The yeast cultures were incubated in air at 37°C for 2 days and checked for purity.

PHENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF THE YEAST ISOLATES

Biotyping

Assimilation of carbohydrates was tested with the API 20C Aux kit (bioMèrieux Vitek, Lyon, France). The reactions were assessed after 24, 48, and 72 hours of incubation at 30°C according to the manufacturer's instructions. Each yeast isolate was tested one to three times. In repeated testing, the assimilation results obtained with API 20C Aux kit were reproducible. Biotyping is described more in detail in Study II.

Serotyping

C. albicans isolates were serotyped by using a slide agglutination test according to manufacturer's instructions (Candida Check, Iatron Laboratories, Inc., Tokyo, Japan). C. albicans serotype A was identified based upon the presence of agglutination, and C. albicans serotype B based upon absence of agglutination indicated by the commercial antiserum IF6 included in the kit. Isolates that autoagglutinated in saline after repeated testing were characterized as non-serotypeable. Serotyping is described more in detail in Study III.

Virulence factors

The virulence factors were studied in Study IV.

High-frequency (10⁻²-10⁻¹) phenotypic switching was determined by modifications of the method of Jones et al. (1994). After incubation on Sabouraud dextrose agar plates, yeast isolates were inoculated on agar plates of the medium of Lee et al. (1975) supplemented with arginine and zinc (Anderson & Soll 1987). The ratio was calculated of the total number of switched colonies to all colonies on the plate (Soll et al. 1987, Study IV). Each isolate was tested once.

Phospholipase production of the yeast isolates was determined according to a modification of the method of Price et al. (1982). After incubation on Sabouraud dextrose agar plates, the yeast isolates were streaked on Sabouraud dextrose agar/Egg yolk plates (Price et al. 1982), and the plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 hours. The phospholipase activity of the isolates was interpreted as positive when a precipitation zone was visible surrounding the growth. The phospholipase production of each isolate was tested twice.

Proteinase production of the yeast isolates was determined according to a modification of the method of Ray and Payne (1990). After incubation on Sabouraud dextrose agar plates, the yeast isolates were streaked on bovine serum albumin agar plates prepared according to Staib (1965). After incubation, the plates were washed, stained, and destained. The proteinase

activity of the isolates was interpreted as positive when a clarification zone was visible around the growth. The proteinase production of each isolate was tested twice.

Siderophore production of the yeast isolates was determined according to a modification of the methods of Schwyn and Neilands (1987) and Alexander and Zuberer (1991). After incubation on Sabouraud dextrose agar plates, the yeast isolates were grown on agar plates supplemented with iron (Sweet & Douglas 1991b). The siderophore production of the isolates was interpreted as positive when a color change from light blue to pink was visible around the growth, and the color of the growth changed from light cream to pink. The siderophore production of each isolate was tested twice.

GENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION OF THE YEAST ISOLATES

DNA extraction

A rapid lysate method was developed for DNA extraction by modifying the method of Bollet et al. (1991). Briefly, after incubation of yeast cells in Tris-EDTA (TE) buffer and sodium dodecyl sulfate, the supernatant was discarded and the yeast pellet was heated in a microwave oven and dissolved in TE buffer, and a 1:100 dilution of the cell lysate was used as the DNA template in PCR amplification (Study II).

Genotyping

PCR genotyping of the yeast isolates was carried out with a repetitive sequence primer $(GACA)_4$ (Schönian et al. 1993), a random sequence primer OPA-03 (5'-AGTCAGCCAC-3', Operon Technologies, Alameda, CA, USA), or a random sequence primer OPE-03 (5'-CCAGATGCAC-3', Operon Technologies). The PCR amplifications were performed as described in detail in the original publications (I-IV). Amplification products were analyzed electrophoretically in 1% (OPA-03-PCR, $(GACA)_4$ -PCR) and 2% (OPE-03-PCR) agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide (0.5 μ g/ml), visualized under ultraviolet light, and photographed.

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

The statistical significance of differences in the frequency distributions of the classified variables between the study groups was determined by Fisher's exact test. Mann-Whitney's U-test served for comparing the means of the continuous variables with each other. A P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

ORAL YEAST SPECIES IN YOUNG CHILDREN

Occurrence

Of the children, 43% (17/40) were yeast-positive at least once during the follow-up period from 2 to 24 months of age. The recovery rate of salivary yeasts from children remained nearly the same at each sampling occasion throughout the follow-up study (18% of children yeast-positive at age 2 months, 13% at 6 months, 20% at 12 months, 20% at 18 months, and 13% at 24 months). Only a few other longitudinal studies on the occurrence of oral yeasts in young children appear in the literature (Pedersen 1969, Russell & Lay 1973). In contrast with the present findings, the recovery of oral Candida species from 140 infants increased from seven days (14%) up to one month of age (82%) and then decreased from this peak towards the age of two months (78%), six months (60%), and one year (50%) (Russell & Lay 1973). Similarly, oral yeasts were recovered from 8% of 75 infants at the age of seven days but from 41% at 5 to 12 months of age (Pedersen 1969). Due to the rather low number of children included in the present study, the lower recovery rate of oral yeasts in the present children up to the age of one year as compared with that in other studies is difficult to explain except for chance. Because infants in the present study and in the prior studies (Pedersen 1969, Russell & Lay 1973) were randomly chosen, systemically healthy infants from Finland, Denmark (Pedersen 1969) or England (Russell & Lay 1973), their differences in the health status or geographical background do not clearly explain this difference in yeast recovery rate. However, different sampling methods were used: salivary samples in the present study and oral mucosal swab samples in the other two studies. Nor does inadequacy of the sampling method seem to be the reason for the present low recovery rates. Saliva (30-40%) (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Brambilla et al. 1992), imprint cultures (44-67%) using square foam pads dipped in Sabouraud's broth to quantify yeasts in certain areas of the oral cavity (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Samaranayake et al. 1986b), or rinse cultures (62-64%) (Samaranayake et al. 1986b, Berkowitz et al. 1994) have been shown to be superior to swab samples (17%) (Odds 1988b) for the recovery of oral yeasts from children and adults. Different culture methods, as well may not explain this result. In the present study, oral yeasts were recovered from several non-selective and selective agar media, including Sabouraud dextrose agar with antibiotics (Larone 1995) and TSBV (our unpublished results) which support well the growth of yeasts, whereas in the prior studies yeasts have been recovered from candida agar (Oxoid) after incubation in Sabouraud's broth (Russell & Lay 1973) or from a solid growth medium for yeasts which was not further specified (Pedersen 1969).

The recovery of oral yeasts from these children was associated with use of a pacifier beyond age 12 months, eruption of the first teeth after six months of age, the mother cooling the child's food by blowing on it, and the mother cleaning the child's pacifier in her own mouth. These results agree with those of prior studies in which recovery of yeasts was associated with use of a pacifier or nursing bottle at night (Sio et al. 1987, Darwazeh & Al-Bashir 1995, Ollila et al. 1997). As suggested by Sio et al. (1987) the habit of pacifier sucking may disturb the ecosystem of the mouth, resulting in increased yeast recovery. Interestingly, the occurrence of the yeasts in these children was not related to respiratory infections or use of antibiotics. This disagrees with another Finnish study on 1-4-year-old children in whom the occurrence of yeasts was associated with antibiotics (Ollila et al. 1997).

C. parapsilosis was recovered from 55% (18/33) and C. albicans from 36% (12/33) of the yeast-positive salivary samples of children during the present 22-month follow-up study. A significant difference (Φ^2 =0.2549, P=0.009) appeared between the detection rates of C. parapsilosis and C. albicans beyond six months of age but not when all sampling occasions were included. This finding was interesting, since to our knowledge, only a single earlier study exists reporting a predominance of oral C. parapsilosis in young children (Contreras et al. 1994). In that follow-up study on 124 Spanish children followed from 15 days to 16 months of age, C. parapsilosis was detected in 52% of all yeast-positive samples. Sampling method seemed to have no effect on recovery rate of C. parapsilosis, since the organism predominated both in salivary (Study I) and swab samples (Contreras et al. 1994). However, in other studies on young children up to the age of two years—regardless of whether the study subjects originated in Europe or the United States—C. albicans was the most frequently detected oral yeast species (up to 59% of yeast-positive subjects), with C. parapsilosis the next in frequency (up to 38% of yeast-positive subjects) (Pedersen 1969, Blaschke-Hellmessen 1970, Kleinegger et al. 1996). This difference in the recovery rates of oral C. parapsilosis (Contreras et al. 1994, Study I) and C. albicans (Pedersen 1969, Blaschke-Hellmessen 1970, Kleinegger et al. 1996) cannot be explained by differences in age or health status, since the children were of similar ages and with no diagnosed underlying systemic disease.

Stability of colonization

Our results suggest that yeasts are transient colonizers of young children. Several findings support this suggestion: No child among the 17 yeast-positive children was yeast-positive at each of the five sampling occasions. Furthermore, yeasts were recovered at only one sampling occasion from 35% (6/17) of the children. Yeasts were recovered at several sampling occasions from 65% (11/17) of the children. Of these 11 children, six (55%) exhibited different yeast species and five (45%) exhibited yeasts of only one single species during the 22-month follow-up. The present results are in accordance with a previous longitudinal study reporting inconsistent recovery of yeasts from children's oral cavities

(Russell & Lay 1973). The authors suggested that the occurrence of *Candida* in oral samples may have been underestimated, since swab samples were used instead of saliva and mouth rinses. This may not be the case, because our own results obtained by use of salivary samples corroborated.

Similar to *C. albicans*, *C. parapsilosis* also seemed to be a transient colonizer, and the other yeast species were only infrequently found. *C. albicans* occurred in 55% (6/11) of yeast-positive children who were yeast-positive at multiple sampling occasions (Table 2 from original publication I). In 67% (4/6) of them, *C. parapsilosis* was detected later; 33% (2/6) of the children with two solely *C. albicans*-positive samples were later yeast-negative. *C. parapsilosis* occurred additionally in 45% (5/11) of children with multiple yeast-positive sampling occasions. Of these children, 40% (2/5) harbored in addition to *C. parapsilosis* another yeast species (*C. guilliermondii*, or *C. lusitaniae* and *C. intermedia*) at earlier sampling occasions, and 60% (3/5) of the children with two or three solely *C. parapsilosis*-positive samples were on earlier occasions and/or in between and/or at later sampling occasions yeast-negative.

As previously suggested (Russell & Lay 1973), changes in the prevalence of oral yeasts along with the age of the infant may be linked with simultaneous changes in the rest of the developing oral microbial flora. To our knowledge, there are no studies in the literature on the stability of oral yeast colonization in young children, at the individual level, except for one single study on 21 infants followed from birth to the age of four weeks (Waggoner-Fountain et al. 1996). In accordance with our results, none of those infants harbored yeasts at every one of the four sampling occasions: yeasts occurred in 33% (7/21) of the infants, of whom 71% (5/7) harbored yeasts at multiple (3/4) sampling occasions and 29% (2/7) at one single occasion (Waggoner-Fountain et al. 1996). Multiple oral *C. albicans*-positive samples were found in one infant in addition to multiple rectal *C. albicans*-positive samples. Rectal *C. albicans* isolates were also recovered from two (40%) other infants. Multiple rectal *C. parapsilosis*-positive samples were recovered from 40% (2/5) of the infants. The single non-oral yeast-positive samples of two infants contained *C. albicans* and *C. parapsilosis*.

Yeast transmission from the mother

Saliva, in contrast to bioaerosols, is regarded as the most probable vehicle in the person-to-person transmission of oral microbes (Asikainen & Chen 1999). Oral microbes are likely transmitted via salivary contact from the mother to her child for example when the mother cleans her child's pacifier in her own mouth or tastes the child's food with the child's spoon. Therefore, salivary samples both from children and their mothers were studied to determine whether the mother was a possible source of her child's oral yeasts.

Fifty percent (20/40) of the mothers were yeast-positive, and 90% (18/20) of them harbored exclusively *C. albicans*, 5% (1/20) both *C. albicans* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, and 5% (1/20) exclusively *C. dubliniensis*. Of these yeast-positive mothers, 35% (7/20) had a child with at least one yeast-positive oral sample. Five of these seven mother-child pairs were positive for *C. albicans*, and in three of these five pairs (60%), the AP-PCR profiles of the *C. albicans* isolates were identical, suggesting transmission. Thus, probable transmission of yeasts from the mother to her child via saliva was detected in 15% (3/20) of the yeast-positive mothers and in 8% (3/40) of all the mother-child pairs.

In the present study, a single isolate only was analyzed. However, earlier studies have suggested that one individual usually harbors only one *C. albicans* genotype (Fox et al. 1989, Whelan et al. 1990). Thus, genotyping multiple *C. albicans* isolates from the present motherchild pairs may not have changed the findings regarding identity and non-identity of the strains within mother-child pairs. Information on the vertical transmission of oral yeasts obtained by molecular biological techniques is limited. In agreement with the present results, one study using REA for genotyping *C. albicans* isolates reported that oral or non-oral *C. albicans* can be transmitted from mother to newborn (Waggoner-Fountain et al. 1996). They showed that 24% (5/21) of the mother-child pairs were yeast-positive, of these, 60% (3/5) harbored *C. albicans*, with the oral or rectal *C. albicans* strain being identical within each of the three *C. albicans*-positive pairs. In another study, 60% (3/5) of *C. albicans* positive mother-child pairs harbored an identical oral *C. albicans* isolate, as determined by AP-PCR genotyping (Mehta et al. 1999).

Of our children, 23% (9/40) were yeast-positive despite the mother's oral samples being yeast-negative. Although the oral route seems to be the source of yeasts from mother to child (Pedersen 1969, Waggoner-Fountain et al. 1996, Mehta et al. 1999), *C. albicans* can be also transmitted to the oral cavity of the child from other body sites which harbor *C. albicans*, such as the mother's vagina during delivery (Kozinn et al. 1958). *C. albicans* is also recovered from human skin and hands (Odds 1988b, Strausbaugh et al. 1994). Thus, in the present study, despite *C. albicans*-negative oral samples, the role of the mother as the source of *C. albicans* to her child cannot be fully ruled out.

Because oral yeast colonization in adults seems to be fairly stable (Samaranayake 1990a; own unpublished data), it was presumed that the baseline salivary sample of the present mothers would define their yeast colonization status throughout the 22-month follow-up period. Since only a baseline sample was collected from the mothers, in 57% (4/7) of the yeast-positive mother-child pairs the yeast isolates were not recovered at the same sampling occasion. Four of the seven children from the yeast-positive mother-child pairs were yeast-negative at baseline but later positive. Although the baseline sample of the child was yeast-negative, yeasts may have existed but below the present detection level.

C. parapsilosis was recovered from none of the mothers although it was recovered from 33% (13/40) of the children. The oral cavity of the mother thus did not seem to be the source of C. parapsilosis to her child. In contrast to C. albicans, the source of C. parapsilosis for the child is probably not the vaginal flora of the mother during delivery (Waggoner-Fountain et al. 1996) because C. parapsilosis is only a minor finding in the vaginal flora, whereas the most common species is C. albicans (Sonck 1978, Sautter & Brown 1980, Goldacre et al. 1981). However, C. parapsilosis can be found on human skin surfaces (Weems 1992) and may thus, for instance, be transmitted from breast skin to the child (Weems 1992, Sanchez et al. 1993, Strausbaugh et al. 1994). All the children in the present study were breastfed. On the other hand, C. parapsilosis may have also been transmitted from the hands of people caring for the infant (Weems 1992, Sanchez et al. 1993, Strausbaugh et al. 1994). C. parapsilosis is the most frequently isolated Candida species recovered from the hands of nurses (50%) and other hospital personnel (67%) (Strausbaugh et al. 1994), and C. parapsilosis can thus probably be transmitted to the patients via hands of hospital personnel. C. parapsilosis has been suggested to be transmitted between neonatal intensive care unit patients via the hands of nurses (Saxen et al. 1995). Sanchez et al. (1993) indicated that among patients who were C. parapsilosis-negative before admission to the hospital, the organism was later found in samples taken from the oropharynx, stool, vagina or wounds. The C. parapsilosis strains from four of five patients were of the same genotype as the strains cultured from the hands of several staff members (Sanchez et al. 1993). Three genotypes of C. parapsilosis were found, of which one was recovered from 80% (4/5) of patients and 75% (3/4) of staff members and from environmental surfaces tested.

IDENTIFICATION, OCCURRENCE AND CHARACTERISTICS OF C. DUBLINIENSIS

Isolates included in Study II showed an AP-PCR and a REP-PCR -profile typical for *C. albicans* except for four isolates, which despite biochemical similarity to *C. albicans*, produced an "atypical" PCR-profile. This atypical PCR-profile was similar to the profile of the type strain of *C. dubliniensis* which has recently been separated from *C. albicans* as a novel *Candida* species (Sullivan et al. 1995, Coleman et al. 1998). Thus, these four isolates, presumptively identified as *C. albicans* (Study II), were later during this study (Study IV) designated as *C. dubliniensis*. *C. dubliniensis* was originally reported to produce abundant chlamydospores which are frequently arranged in triplets or contiguous pairs, in contrast to the single chlamydospores of *C. albicans* (Sullivan et al. 1995). However, the present findings (Study I, II, IV) agree with the results of Kirkpatrick et al. (1998) and Schoofs et al. (1997) who observed no difference in the number of chlamydospores, or their formations, between *C. albicans* and *C. dubliniensis* isolates.

In some studies, *C. dubliniensis* has been differentiated on CHROMagar Candida Medium by its dark green colonies as compared to the lighter green colonies of *C. albicans* (Coleman et al. 1997a, Sullivan et al. 1997). Our results are in agreement with the results of other researchers (Schoofs et al. 1997, Tintelnot et al. 2000) who could not differentiate *C. albicans* and *C. dubliniensis* isolates by color of colonies. According to these observations, both species grew as an equal shade of green-colored colonies on CHROMagar Candida Medium plates. The present *C. dubliniensis* isolates did not assimilate xylose (Study II); such non-assimilation is regarded as a typical property of *C. dubliniensis* (Sullivan et al. 1995, Kirkpatrick et al. 1998, Gales et al. 1999, Pincus et al. 1999). Originally, Sullivan et al. (1995) reported that *C. dubliniensis* does not grow at 42°C when incubated on potato dextrose agar or yeast peptone dextrose broth. All the present *C. dubliniensis* isolates were able to grow at 42°C on Sabouraud dextrose agar (Study II). It was recently reported that some strains of *C. dubliniensis* were, however, able to grow at 42°C but not at 45°C on Sabouraud dextrose agar or on Emmons' modified Sabouraud glucose agar (Kirkpatrick et al. 1998, Pinjon et al. 1998, Jabra-Rizk et al. 1999), but our *C. dubliniensis* isolates were not tested for growth at 45°C.

Genotypic methods have recently provided rapid and reliable tools for the species differentiation between *C. albicans* and *C. dubliniensis* (Sullivan et al. 1995, Coleman et al. 1997a, Pujol et al. 1997, Sullivan & Coleman 1998). In the present studies both the random sequence primers and the repetitive sequence primer easily differentiated *C. dubliniensis* from *C. albicans* (Study I, II, IV).

The majority of *C. dubliniensis* isolates reported in the literature have been recovered from the oral cavity, suggesting that this species may be particularly adapted to oral colonization (Sullivan et al. 1995, Coleman et al. 1997b, Gilfillan et al. 1998). There are, however, studies indicating that it can also be isolated from blood, feces, sputum, and the vaginal flora (Odds et al. 1998, Pfaller et al. 1998, Pinjon et al. 1998). In early studies, *C. dubliniensis* was mainly found in HIV-infected subjects (Sullivan & Coleman 1998). However, the present *C. dubliniensis* isolates were recovered from saliva and subgingival sites of subjects with no known disorder of the immune system. Recently, other investigators have also reported recovery of *C. dubliniensis* from subjects not described as HIV-infected (Moran et al. 1997, Odds et al. 1998).

Since data on *C. dubliniensis* are still limited, the purpose of the present study (Study IV) was to screen for differences between *C. dubliniensis* and *C. albicans* as regards a number of virulence factors in addition to genotype differences, with tests being chosen that produce results that could be interpreted simply as positive or negative. Information from these studies was intended to assist in focusing future studies on certain virulence characteristics.

The *C. dubliniensis* isolates studied here showed phenotypic switching more frequently (70%) than did the *C. albicans* isolates (22%), a finding that suggests that in this

respect C. dubliniensis isolates exhibit higher virulence than C. albicans isolates. The ability of a microbe to adapt to environmental changes by switching its phenotype is considered an important virulence factor (Soll 1992). These results are interesting since no earlier data seem to exist on switching of C. dubliniensis. However, contrary to the general assumption that C. dubliniensis may be more virulent than C. albicans, one earlier study suggested in a mouse model lower virulence for C. dubliniensis (Gilfillan et al. 1998). In a similar way, our findings on production of phospholipase and proteinase, suggest that the C. dubliniensis isolates exhibit lower virulence than the C. albicans isolates. Our C. dubliniensis isolates did not produce phospholipase, and thus phospholipase production was less frequent among the C. dubliniensis isolates than among the C. albicans (56%) isolates. Only one study was found in which the quantity of phospholipase production seemed to be similar among oral C. dubliniensis and C. albicans isolates (Bennett et al. 1998). Our study is probably the first to indicate that the C. dubliniensis isolates produced proteinase less often (10%) than did the C. albicans isolates (50%) but no significant difference appeared in the production of siderophores between the C. dubliniensis (100%) and C. albicans (81%) isolates. As the number of tested isolates was limited, further studies using methods that allow more detailed analyses are needed to clarify whether switching ability is a prominent virulence factor of C. dubliniensis.

INTERINDIVIDUAL HETEROGENEITY OF ORAL YEASTS

Geographical differences

Yeast species

In Study II, 10 random sequence PCR primers were tested for their ability to discriminate within and between different yeast species. The results indicated that AP-PCR amplification with the random sequence primer OPA-03, or PCR with a repetitive sequence primer (GACA)₄ generated distinct amplicon patterns for the yeast species *C. albicans, C. dubliniensis, C. famata, C. glabrata, C. guilliermondii, C. intermedia, C. krusei, C. lusitaniae, C. kefyr, C. parapsilosis, C. tropicalis, and S. cerevisiae.*

Detection rates for oral *C. albicans* and *C. dubliniensis* were similar among yeast-positive subjects from Finland and the United States (Study II). *C. albicans* isolates were recovered from 93% (27/29) of Finnish subjects and 89% (17/19) of American subjects. *C. dubliniensis* was recovered from 7% (2/29) of Finnish subjects and 11% (2/19) of American subjects. In addition to oral *C. albicans*, *C. glabrata*, *C. krusei*, or *S. cerevisiae* were found concurrently in three Finnish subjects. The American subjects, from whom five isolates per subject were analyzed, did not harbor other yeast species concurrently with *C. albicans*. Our finding that *C. dubliniensis* was detected from both Finland and the United States supports the

assumption that *C. dubliniensis* is distributed worldwide (Sullivan et al. 1997, Jabra-Rizk et al. 1999, McCullough et al. 1999b, Polacheck et al. 2000). Moreover, the present results on the infrequent recovery of yeast species other than *C. albicans* from the oral cavity are in concordance with prior studies (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Brambilla et al. 1992).

C. albicans biotypes and serotypes

The *C. albicans* isolates from 44 Finnish and American subjects (Study II) were divided into six biotypes based on carbohydrate assimilation profiles of the API 20C Aux kit. *C. albicans* populations seem to share similarities worldwide as regards biotype distribution. Among the Finnish and American isolates, *C. albicans* biotype 2576174 predominated (79%). This same biotype is common (57-88%) in previous studies (Williamson et al. 1986a, Korting et al. 1988, Asakura et al. 1991, Rams & Slots 1991) from diverse geographical locations, including Germany, Great Britain, Japan, and the United States. Besides the oral cavity, isolates of this biotype have also been recovered from other body sites (Williamson et al. 1986a, Korting et al. 1988, Asakura et al. 1991, Rams & Slots 1991). Furthermore, two other Finnish biotypes of *C. albicans* (2566174 and 2546074), comprising 4% of the present isolates, were found in 9% of the American isolates studied by Rams & Slots (1991). The remaining four yeast isolates, all of which turned out to be *C. dubliniensis*, were of three additional biotypes solely found among *C. dubliniensis* isolates. It appeared that the API 20C Aux kit is unable to identify some *C. albicans* isolates, as also noticed by Aly et al. (1995). One Finnish *C. albicans* and one *C. dubliniensis* isolate remained unidentified by this kit.

C. albicans serotype A was detected significantly more frequently in subjects from Finland (80%) and Turkey (100%) than from the United States (45%) (Study III). Although no other studies were found on the distribution of *C. albicans* serotypes among isolates from Finland or Turkey, the present finding does generally agree with studies in which the occurrence of serotype A has varied from 75% to 94% of isolates recovered from European countries (Stallybrass 1964, Drouhet et al. 1975) and from 51% to 68% of isolates recovered from the United States (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1963, Stiller et al. 1982).

C. albicans genotypes

Since the intraspecies distinction of *C. albicans* in Studies I and II remained rather poor with the primers OPA-03 and (GACA)₄ another random sequence primer, OPE-03, was tested which improved the differentiation among *C. albicans* strains and was thus used in Studies III and IV. It could be seen that one of the 25 *C. albicans* genotypes distinguishable among the present 300 isolates from 60 *C. albicans*-positive routine dental clinic patients occurred at a particularly high frequency (50% of yeast-positive subjects) in subjects from

Turkey, whereas another genotype was rather common in subjects from the United States (35% of yeast-positive subjects) (Study III). No previous studies concerned subgingival *C. albicans* genotypes. *C. albicans* strains shared only one single genotype in all three countries and another genotype in both Finland and Turkey. The other 23 *C. albicans* genotypes were single findings.

Differences in geographic distribution of *C. albicans* genotypes have previously been suggested (Schmid et al. 1993, Pfaller et al. 1998, McCullough et al. 1999b). For instance, *C. albicans* isolates from various geographical locations, including Africa, Asia, Australia, Europe, and South America, showed a similar genotype distribution, one distinct from that found in the United States and Israel (McCullough et al. 1999b). Somewhat unexpectedly, 12 *C. albicans* genotypes were distinguished in the present 20 Finnish subjects, but seven from the 20 American and nine from the 20 Turkish subjects. The ethnically homogeneous population of Finland was originally anticipated to harbor relatively few *C. albicans* genotypes, whereas the heterogeneous population of the United States was expected to harbor several. However, based on our results the *C. albicans* population seems to be heterogeneous in each country, not directly dependent upon ethnic factors but rather showing clustering of certain clones in differing geographic areas.

C. albicans isolates in relation to systemic health

Genotypes and virulence factors

AP-PCR, with OPE-03 as a primer, distinguished 15 *C. albicans* genotypes from 21 immunocompromised subjects with APECED and six genotypes from the 10 healthy subjects (Study IV). No significant difference appeared between patients with APECED and healthy subjects in number of genotypes or in occurrence of virulence factors of *C. albicans* isolates (Study IV).

Our findings were in agreement with those of one study in which the diversity of oral *C. albicans* genotypes between HIV-infected and systemically healthy subjects was similar (Xu et al. 1999). However, in an even earlier study, the diversity of oral *C. albicans* genotypes was lower among 11 immunocompromised subjects (AIDS) than in 16 systemically healthy subjects (Schmid et al. 1992). The authors suggested that the original commensal *C. albicans* strains had been replaced with a new one in AIDS patients, because 45% (5/11) of the unrelated patients with AIDS harbored genetically similar strains. The discrepancies between these studies may result from chance, due to the limited number of subjects or to differences between study populations. The present subjects were immunocompromised patients with APECED and chronic oral candidosis; the others were patients with AIDS (Schmid et al. 1992). Genotyping methods also differed between studies, AP-PCR and RFLP, respectively.

Though we conclude, that further studies with a higher number of subjects are still needed to clarify, whether the diversity of *C. albicans* genotypes is decreased in immunocompromised subjects or is related to immune status.

The same *C. albicans* genotypes were recovered from our systemically healthy subjects as from the immunocompromised patients with APECED, a result in agreement with earlier findings in which the distribution of the *C. albicans* genotypes did not differ among immunocompromised patients with AIDS and healthy subjects (Whelan et al. 1990). Candidosis associated with AIDS is probably not caused by an especially virulent strain but is likely a consequence of a defect in the host's defense mechanisms (Whelan et al. 1990). This assumption was supported by the finding that no particular *C. albicans* genotype is associated with HIV-infection. Oral *C. albicans* isolates were suggested to have a common clonal origin in patients with or without HIV infection (Boerlin et al. 1996).

No significant differences were found in high-frequency phenotypic switching (28% vs. 10% of isolates), phospholipase production (52% vs. 60%), proteinase production (48% vs. 60%), or siderophore production (86% vs. 70%) for oral C. albicans isolates between our immunocompromised patients with APECED and candidosis and our systemically healthy subjects (Study IV). These results agree with the findings of Hellstein et al. (1993) who showed phenotypic switching among 34% of C. albicans isolates obtained from oral candidosis and among 15% of C. albicans isolates from healthy subjects. Contrary to the present results, in the study of Wu et al. (1996) all oral C. albicans isolates from patients with HIV infection exhibited proteolytic ability, but only 56% of the isolates from HIV-negative subjects. The discrepancies in presented results do not seem to be methodological, since in both studies proteinase production was tested on similar bovine serum albumin agar plates. There are only a few studies reporting on siderophore production of *C. albicans* (Holzberg & Artis 1983, Sweet & Douglas 1991b), and these usually present a limited number of C. albicans isolates, with the main focus on determining siderophore types. Of the present 31 C. albicans isolates, 81% produced siderophores, which largely agrees with findings that all 12 C. albicans strains from subjects with various pathologies and in asymptomatic patients, in regard to candidosis, produced siderophores (Sweet & Douglas 1991a).

INTRAINDIVIDUAL HETEROGENEITY OF ORAL YEASTS

Yeast species

Of subjects with no known immunosuppression, 85% (41/48) harbored only *C. albicans* isolates and 8% (4/48) only *C. dubliniensis* isolates (Study II). In addition to oral *C. albicans*, also *C. glabrata*, *C. krusei*, or *S. cerevisiae* occurred in 6% (3/48). The novel chromogenic medium (CHROMagar Candida Medium) used in the present Studies I-IV for

presumptive identification of *Candida* species facilitates recovery of different yeast species from mixed cultures. In contrast to studies concentrating on usually only one yeast isolate per subject, we studied 4 to 22 yeast isolates per subject. Our results are in concordance with those of studies reporting yeast species other than *C. albicans* have seldom been recovered from systemically healthy subjects (Arendorf & Walker 1980, Brambilla et al. 1992). Unlike our findings, oral *C. dubliniensis* has been recovered concurrently with other yeast species (Coleman et al. 1997b, Schoofs et al. 1997). Such a discrepancy may be explained by difference in subjects, since our *C. dubliniensis* isolates were from subjects with no known disorder of the immune system, but the prior isolates from HIV-positive subjects and AIDS patients (Coleman et al. 1997b, Schoofs et al. 1997). Immunosuppression may permit colonization of several coexisting yeast species in the oral cavity.

C. albicans serotypes and genotypes

All five subgingival *C. albicans* isolates per subject from 60 routine dental clinic patients were, within each individual, of the same serotype or non-serotypeable, except for two American subjects who had both serotype B and non-serotypeable isolates (Study III). A literature search revealed no report of two concurrent oral *C. albicans* serotypes per individual; on different sampling occasions one single individual may harbor oral or non-oral isolates of one single *C. albicans* serotype (Hasenclever & Mitchell 1963).

With the primer OPE-03, the discriminative power of the AP-PCR method was relatively high, since it distinguished altogether 33 C. albicans genotypes among clinical isolates recovered from 91 subjects and one additional genotype in a reference strain (Studies III and IV). Pujol et al. (1997) found the same primer to generate 17 C. albicans genotypes among isolates from 22 subjects, again indicating the favorable discriminative capability of the primer OPE-03. A single C. albicans genotype was found in each healthy subject from Finland, the United States, and Turkey among the multiple (N=5) C. albicans isolates per subject (Study III, IV), except for two subjects from Turkey who each harbored two genotypes, of C. albicans serotype A (Study III). This agrees with prior studies including several isolates per subject and indicates that one individual usually harbors a single oral C. albicans genotype (Hellstein et al. 1993, Lockhart et al. 1995, Kleinegger et al. 1996). In these studies the subjects were healthy (no evidence of candidosis or HIV-infection). However, in immunocompromised subjects, findings as to the intraindividual diversity of oral yeasts have been contradictory. A single genotype (Miyasaki et al. 1992, Boerlin et al. 1996) or simultaneously occurring multiple genotypes (Anthony et al. 1995, Redding et al. 1997) of C. albicans have been recovered among strains from single subjects.

C. dubliniensis genotypes

The AP-PCR technique with the primer OPE-03 distinguished two genotypes among the 27 oral *C. dubliniensis* isolates originating from nine systemically healthy subjects (Study IV). Except for one subject with two concurrent *C. dubliniensis* genotypes, each subject (N=8) harbored only one. The recovery of only two genotypes may result from the limited number of subjects and isolates tested but also from the fact that the primer was originally optimized for *C. albicans*. It is thus too early to draw conclusions about intraspecies diversity of *C. dubliniensis* until further testing is performed with other AP-PCR primers, or other genotyping methods. Studies have focused mainly on detecting *C. dubliniensis* in clinical samples and differentiating it from *C. albicans*. Only recently, the intraspecies diversity of *C. dubliniensis* has been investigated (Diaz-Guerra et al. 1999, Joly et al. 1999). Fifty-seven *C. dubliniensis* isolates, each from a different subject, exhibited distinct RFLP hybridization patterns (N=53) which were further separated into two distinct genetic clusters (Joly et al. 1999). To date, no studies in addition to the present one have focused on the intraindividual diversity of *C. dubliniensis* genotypes.

SUBGINGIVAL C. ALBICANS AND OCCURRENCE OF PERIODONTAL PATHOGENS

A few, albeit geographically inconsistent, associations were evident in the comprehensive analyses of the data between detection of *C. albicans* and of periodontal pathogens from the same samples (Study III). Results on total bacterial counts, detection, and proportions of various periodontal pathogens in relation to the presence or absence of *C. albicans* are discussed below.

First, mean subgingival bacterial counts based on colony-forming units (CFU) were similar in *C. albicans*-positive $(1.5 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU}, \text{ SD } 2.7 \times 10^8)$ and *C. albicans*-negative $(1.9 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU}, \text{ SD } 3.7 \times 10^8)$ subjects.

Second, when the number of periodontopathogenic species: A. actinomycetemcomitans, P. gingivalis, P. intermedia sensu lato, B. forsythus, P. micros, and C. rectus in subgingival samples was compared to the simultaneous occurrence of C. albicans, the number of detected species was significantly lower among C. albicans-positive Finnish and American subjects than among -negative subjects (10 vs. 15, Φ^2 =0.070, P=0.031 and 14 vs. 27, Φ^2 =0.590, P=0.035, respectively). Interestingly, the recovery of significantly $(\Phi^2=0.1837, P=0.013)$ fewer species of periodontal pathogens per sample also concerned samples with C. albicans serotype A isolates from Finland and the United States. Nevertheless, these results suggest that C. albicans, and especially serotype A isolates, may thrive in healthy periodontal sites or along with only a few species of periodontal pathogens.

Third, among the selected periodontal species, P. gingivalis was recovered significantly (Φ^2 =0.1064, P=0.008) less frequently from C. albicans-positive (29%, 5/17) than -negative (67%, 34/51) subjects in Finland. This finding makes sense because of the differing environmental preferences of P. gingivalis and C. albicans: in diseased subgingival sites, oxygen pressure is low, host-derived proteins are readily available, and carbohydrate nutrients are limited, all of which favors the obligately anaerobic, proteolytic, asaccharolytic P. gingivalis but not the aerobic, fermentative C. albicans. Additionally, the mean proportion of A. actinomycetemcomitans among the flora was significantly (Z=-2.271, P=0.023) higher in Finland among C. albicans-positive (mean 0.9, SD 0.9) than -negative (mean 0.1, SD 0.1) subjects. This may be expected, since a similar type of subgingival ecology may favor the growth of both organisms, namely the facultatively anaerobic, saccharolytic A. actinomycetemcomitans and C. albicans. Coaggregation between yeasts and bacteria may be an important factor in the microbial colonization and progression of infections in the oral cavity. Although no studies on coaggregation between oral C. albicans and periodontal pathogens were found, it is known that C. albicans binds to several dental plaque bacteria including viridans streptococci (Jenkinson et al. 1990, Holmes et al. 1996), Fusobacterium (Grimaudo & Nesbitt 1997), and Actinomyces species (Grimaudo et al. 1996). The present study is, to the best of our knowledge, the first to address the question of the coexistence of C. albicans and periodontal pathogens in subgingival sites. These results have to be considered preliminary findings, but they encourage further studies to investigate environmental factors favorable for subgingival colonization and persistence of C. albicans. In the future, in vitro studies should show whether certain periodontal bacteria inhibit or favor the growth of yeasts or vice versa.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The present study used phenotypic and genotypic methods to determine the stability of oral yeast colonization in young children and to characterize oral yeasts recovered from children and adults. Additionally, an attempt was made to determine the timing of yeast colonization in the oral cavity of infants and to clarify the role of the mother's oral cavity as a possible source of oral yeast infection for the child. The clonal heterogeneity of oral *C. albicans* isolates was determined between and within subjects from geographically distant locales: Finland, the United States, and Turkey. The simultaneous occurrence of *C. albicans* with the periodontal pathogens *A. actinomycetemcomitans*, *P. gingivalis*, *P. intermedia* sensu lato, *B. forsythus*, *P. micros*, and *C. rectus* was additionally studied. Finally, certain virulence attributes were compared between *C. dubliniensis* and *C. albicans* isolates and between *C. albicans* isolates from subjects with or without a compromised immune response.

All clinical yeast isolates (812 isolates from 217 subjects) included were subcultured on CHROMagar Candida Medium plates for tentative identification. Phenotypic characterization of the isolates was carried out with biotyping and serotyping. PCR was chosen as the technique for genotypic characterization of the yeast isolates because of its relative rapidity and easiness to perform, which allows characterization of a large number of isolates. The random sequence primer OPE-03 improved the intraspecies differentiation of *C. albicans* compared to the primers (a random sequence primer OPA-03 and a repetitive sequence primer (GACA)₄) used in the first two studies of the thesis, and so was subsequently used in the two later studies. With the primer OPE-03, a total of 33 genotypes were distinguished among 367 clinical *C. albicans* isolates from 91 subjects and two genotypes among 26 clinical *C. dubliniensis* isolates from nine subjects.

Yeasts were found to be transient colonizers in the developing oral flora of young children, as assessed from salivary samples obtained at ages 2, 6, 12, 18, and 24 months. No child was yeast-positive at each of the five sampling occasions. Of the yeast-positive children, 35% harbored yeasts at one sampling occasion, 41% at two sampling occasions, 18% at three, and 6% at four occasions. Yeasts were recovered on at least one occasion from 43% of children by the age of two years. However, only 28% of children were yeast-positive at multiple sampling occasions. The same yeast species was rarely (18%) detected in successive follow-up samples. *C. parapsilosis* was the most common species (76%) followed by *C. albicans* (24%) in samples obtained at ages over 6 months. Of the mothers, 50% harbored salivary yeasts when tested at baseline, and 95% of the yeast-positive mothers had *C. albicans*. Of these *C. albicans*-positive mothers, 26% had a *C. albicans*-positive child, but no child with *C. parapsilosis* had a *C. parapsilosis*-positive mother with oral sample. The AP-PCR genotypes of the *C. albicans* isolates varied between mother-child pairs, but were

identical within 60% of the pairs, suggesting transmission of oral *C. albicans* between mother and child.

C. albicans was the oral yeast species most frequently recovered from adults (93%). Other yeast species alone (7% of subjects) or together with *C. albicans* (6%) were rare findings. Only a single oral *C. albicans* genotype was usually recovered within a subject (97% of subjects).

Geographical differences were evident in the distribution of *C. albicans* serotypes and genotypes. *C. albicans* serotype A was recovered significantly more frequently from the Finnish and Turkish than the American subjects. Additionally, one *C. albicans* genotype occurred with particularly high frequency in subjects from Turkey and another genotype in subjects from the United States, but none in subjects from Finland.

The present study seems to be the first to study serotypes and genotypes of subgingival *C. albicans* isolates. Subgingival ecology did not seem to favor any particular genotypes. Despite comprehensive analyses, only a few associations were found between the recovery of *C. albicans* and of certain periodontal pathogens, and these associations were, geographically inconsistent.

The *C. dubliniensis* isolates exhibited high-frequency phenotypic switching significantly more frequently, but phospholipase and proteinase production less frequently than for the *C. albicans* isolates. However, no significant difference was found in the expression of these virulence factors or in the distribution of genotypes of *C. albicans* isolates between the subjects with APECED, whose immune system is compromised, and systemically healthy subjects.

The main conclusions are that:

- In the developing oral flora of young children yeasts are transient colonizers, *C. parapsilosis* and *C. albicans* being the most frequently occurring species.
- A child's oral *C. albicans* is partly explained by transmission from the mother, whereas the source of *C. parapsilosis* remains to be settled.
- A subject usually harbors only a single genotype and serotype of oral *C. albicans*, which is the most common oral yeast species in healthy adults.
- *C. albicans*, of which different serotypes and genotypes cluster in geographically distant sites, may be coincidentally present in periodontal pockets.
- Differences appear in the virulence determinants between *C. dubliniensis* and *C. albicans* isolates but not in the virulence determinants or the genotype distribution between *C. albicans* isolates recovered from healthy individuals or those susceptible to yeast infections.

REFERENCES

Addy M, Shaw WC, Hansford P, Hopkins M. The effect of orthodontic appliances on the distribution of *Candida* and plaque in adolescents. Br J Orthod 1982: 9: 158-163.

Alexander DB, Zuberer DA. Use of chrome azurol S reagents to evaluate siderophore production by rhizosphere bacteria. Biol Fertil Soils 1991: 12: 39-45.

Almståhl A, Kroneld U, Tarkowski A, Wikström M. Oral microbial flora in Sjögren's syndrome. J Rheumatol 1999: 26: 110-114.

Alteras I, Aryeli J. The incidence of *Candida albicans* in the last day of pregnancy and the first days of the new born. Mycopathologia 1980: 72: 85-87.

Aly FZ, Blackwell CC, MacKenzie DAC, Weir DM. Identification of oral yeast species isolated from individuals with diabetes mellitus. Mycoses 1995: 38: 107-110.

Anderson JM, Soll DR. Unique phenotype of opaque cells in the white-opaque transition of *Candida albicans*. J Bacteriol 1987: 169: 5579-5588.

Anthony RM, Midgley J, Sweet SP, Howell SA. Multiple strains of *Candida albicans* in the oral cavity of HIV positive and HIV negative patients. Microb Ecol Health Dis 1995: 8: 23-30.

Arendorf TM, Walker DM. Oral candidal populations in health and disease. Br Dent J 1979: 147: 267-272.

Arendorf TM, Walker DM. The prevalence and intra-oral distribution of *Candida albicans* in man. Arch Oral Biol 1980: 25: 1-10.

Asakura K, Iwaguchi S-I, Homma M, Sukai T, Higashide K, Tanaka K. Electrophoretic karyotypes of clinically isolated yeasts of *Candida albicans* and *C. glabrata*. J Gen Microbiol 1991: 137: 2531-2538.

Asikainen S, Chen C. Oral ecology and person-to-person transmission of *Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans* and *Porphyromonas gingivalis*. Periodontol 2000 1999: 20: 65-81.

Auger P, Dumas C, Joly J. A study of 666 strains of *Candida albicans*: correlation between serotype and susceptibility to 5-fluorocytosine. J Infect Dis 1979: 139: 590-594.

Bagg J, Silverwood RW. Coagglutination reactions between *Candida albicans* and oral bacteria. J Med Microbiol 1986: 22: 165-169.

Baillie GS, Douglas LJ. Iron-limited biofilms of *Candida albicans* and their susceptibility to amphotericin B. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1998: 42: 2146-2149.

Baley JE, Kliegman RM, Boxerbaum B, Fanaroff AA. Fungal colonization in the very low birth weight infant. Pediatrics 1986: 78: 225-232.

Barnes JL, Osgood RW, Lee JC, King RD, Stein JH. Host-parasite interactions in the pathogenesis of experimental renal candidiasis. Lab Invest 1983: 49: 460-467.

Barrett-Bee K, Hayes Y, Wilson RG, Ryley JF. A comparison of phospholipase activity, cellular adherence and pathogenicity of yeasts. J Gen Microbiol 1985: 131: 1217-1221.

Bastiaan RJ, Reade PC. The prevalence of *Candida albicans* in the mouths of tobacco smokers with and without oral mucous membrane keratoses. Oral Surg 1982: 53: 148-151.

Bennett DE, McCreary CE, Coleman DC. Genetic characterization of a phospholipase C gene from *Candida albicans*: presence of homologous sequences in *Candida* species other than *Candida albicans*. Microbiology 1998: 144: 55-72.

Berdicevsky I, Ben-Aryeh H, Szargel R, Gutman D. Oral *Candida* in asymptomatic denture wearers. Int J Oral Surg 1980: 9: 113-115.

Berkowitz R, Obeid G, McIlveen L, Getson P, Mohla C, Campos J. Comparison of two sampling techniques for quantitation of oral yeast levels. Pediatr Dent 1994: 16: 62-63.

Blaschke-Hellmessen R. Zum Vorkommen von Hefepilzen bei Neugeborenen, Säuglingen und Kleinkindern und ihre pathogenetische Bedeutung als Soorerreger. Kinderarztl Praxis 1970: 38: 219-229.

Boerlin P, Boerlin-Petzold F, Goudet J, Durussel C, Pagani J-L, Chave J-P, Bille J. Typing *Candida albicans* oral isolates from human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients by multilocus enzyme electrophoresis and DNA fingerprinting. J Clin Microbiol 1996: 34: 1235-1248.

Bollet C, Gevaudan MJ, de Lamballerie X, Zandotti C, de Micco P. A simple method for the isolation of chromosomal DNA from Gram positive or acid fast bacteria. Nucleic Acids Res 1991: 19: 1955.

Borromeo GL, McCullough MJ, Reade PC. Quantitation and morphotyping of *Candida albicans* from healthy mouths and from mouths affected by erythematous candidosis. J Med Vet Mycol 1992: 30: 477-480.

Bostock A, Khattak MN, Matthews R, Burnie J. Comparison of PCR fingerprinting, by random amplification of polymorphic DNA, with other molecular typing methods for *Candida albicans*. J Gen Microbiol 1993: 139: 2179-2184.

Brambilla E, Strohmenger L, Vogel G. The effect of storage in liquid nitrogen on the isolation of oral yeasts in human saliva. Arch Oral Biol 1992: 37: 237-239.

Brawner DL, Cutler JE. Oral *Candida albicans* isolates from nonhospitalized normal carriers, immunocompetent hospitalized patients, and immunocompromised patients with or without acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. J Clin Microbiol 1989: 27: 1335-1341.

Brawner DL. Comparison between methods for serotyping of *Candida albicans* produces discrepancies in results. J Clin Microbiol 1991: 29: 1020-1025.

Brawner DL, Anderson GL, Yuen KY. Serotype prevalence of *Candida albicans* from blood culture isolates. J Clin Microbiol 1992: 30: 149-153.

Budtz-Jörgensen E, Bertram U. Denture stomatitis. I. The etiology in relation to trauma and infection. Acta Odontol Scand 1970: 28: 71-92.

Budtz-Jörgensen E. The significance of *Candida albicans* in denture stomatitis. Scand J Dent Res 1974: 82: 151-190

Budtz-Jörgensen E, Stenderup A, Grabowski M. An epidemiologic study of yeasts in elderly denture wearers. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 1975: 3: 115-119.

Budtz-Jörgensen E. *Candida*-associated denture stomatitis and angular cheilitis. In: Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW, editors. Oral candidosis. London: Butterworth: 1990. p. 156-183.

Budtz-Jörgensen E, Lombardi T. Antifungal therapy in the oral cavity. Periodontol 2000 1996: 10: 89-106.

Cannon RD, Chaffin WL. Oral colonization by Candida albicans. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 1999: 10: 359-383.

Carlile MJ, Watkinson SC. The fungi. San Diego: Academic Press: 1996: p. 9-75.

Clemons KV, Feroze F, Holmberg K, Stevens DA. Comparative analysis of genetic variability among *Candida albicans* isolates from different geographic locales by three genotypic methods. J Clin Microbiol 1997: 35: 1332-1336.

Coleman D, Sullivan D, Harrington B, Haynes K, Henman M, Shanley D, Bennett D, Moran G, McCreary C, O'Neill L. Molecular and phenotypic analysis of *Candida dubliniensis*: a recently identified species linked with oral candidosis in HIV-infected and AIDS patients. Oral Dis 1997a: 3 (Suppl 1): S96-101.

Coleman DC, Sullivan DJ, Bennett DE, Moran GP, Barry HJ, Shanley DB. Candidiasis: the emergence of a novel species, *Candida dubliniensis*. AIDS 1997b: 11: 557-567.

Coleman DC, Rinaldi MG, Haynes KA, Rex JH, Summerbell RC, Anaissie EJ, Li A, Sullivan DJ. Importance of *Candida* species other than *Candida albicans* as opportunistic pathogens. Med Mycol 1998: 36 (Suppl 1): 156-165.

Contreras I, Pontón J, Quindós G. Prevalence of *Candida parapsilosis* in the oral cavities of infants in Spain. Clin Infect Dis 1994: 18: 480-481.

Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences. Mycoses. International nomenclature of diseases. Switzerland: CIOMS (World Health Organisation): 1982.

Cross LJ, Bagg J, Oliver D, Warnock D. Serum itraconazole concentrations and clinical responses in *Candida*-associated denture stomatitis patients treated with itraconazole solution and itraconazole capsules. J Antimicrob Chemother 2000: 45: 95-99.

Cutler JE. Putative virulence factors of Candida albicans. Annu Rev Microbiol 1991: 45: 187-218.

Dahlén G, Wikström M. Occurrence of enteric rods, staphylococci and *Candida* in subgingival samples. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1995: 10: 42-46.

Darwazeh AM, Al-Bashir A. Oral candidal flora in healthy infants. J Oral Pathol Med 1995: 24: 361-364.

Dassanayake RS, Samaranayake LP. Characterization of the genetic diversity in superficial and systemic human isolates of *Candida parapsilosis* by randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD). APMIS 2000: 108: 153-160.

Diamond RD. Interactions of phagocytic cells with *Candida* and other opportunistic fungi. Arch Med Res 1993: 24: 361-369.

Diaz-Guerra TM, Martinez-Suarez JV, Laguna F, Rodriguez-Tudela JL. Comparison of four molecular typing methods for evaluating genetic diversity among *Candida albicans* isolates from human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients with oral candidiasis. J Clin Microbiol 1997: 35: 856-861.

Diaz-Guerra TM, Mellado E, Estrella MC, Laguna F, Rodriguez-Tudela JL. Molecular characterization by PCR-fingerprinting of *Candida dubliniensis* strains isolated from two HIV-positive patients in Spain. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 1999: 35: 113-119.

Donnelly SM, Sullivan DJ, Shanley DB, Coleman DC. Phylogenetic analysis and rapid identification of *Candida dubliniensis* based on analysis of *ACT1* intron and exon sequences. Microbiology 1999: 145: 1871-1882.

Dorocka-Bobkowska B, Budtz-Jörgensen E, Wloch S. Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for denture stomatitis. J Oral Pathol Med 1996: 25: 411-415.

Drouhet E, Mercier-Soucy L, Montplaisir S. Sensibilité et résistance des levures pathogènes aux 5-fluoropyrimidines. I. Relation entre les phénotypes de résistance a la 5-fluorocytosine, le sérotype de *Candida albicans* et l'écologie de différentes espèces de *Candida* d'origine humaine. Ann Microbiol 1975: 126B: 25-39.

Eggert FM, Drewell L, Bigelow JA, Speck JE, Goldner M. The pH of gingival crevices and periodontal pockets in children, teenagers and adults. Arch Oral Biol 1991: 36: 233-238.

Eskow RN, Loesche WJ. Oxygen tensions in the human oral cavity. Arch Oral Biol 1971: 16: 1127-1128.

Fletcher J, Mather J, Lewis MJ, Whiting G. Mouth lesions in iron-deficient anemia: relationship to *Candida albicans* in saliva and to impairment of lymphocyte transformation. J Infect Dis 1975: 131: 44-50.

Fox BC, Mobley HLT, Wade JC. The use of a DNA probe for epidemiological studies of candidiasis in immunocompromised hosts. J Infect Dis 1989: 159: 488-494.

France DR. Survival of Candida albicans in hand creams. N Z Med J 1968: 67: 552-554.

Fridkin SK, Jarvis WR. Epidemiology of nosocomial fungal infections. Clin Microbiol Rev 1996: 9: 499-511.

Fukazawa Y, Shinoda T, Tsuchiya T. Response and specificity of antibodies for *Candida albicans*. J Bacteriol 1968: 95: 754-763.

Gales AC, Pfaller MA, Houston AK, Joly S, Sullivan DJ, Coleman DC, Soll DR. Identification of *Candida dubliniensis* based on temperature and utilization of xylose and α -methyl-D-glucoside as determined with the API 20C AUX and vitek YBC systems. J Clin Microbiol 1999: 37: 3804-3808.

Ghannoum MA. Potential role of phospholipases in virulence and fungal pathogenesis. Clin Microbiol Rev 2000: 13: 122-143.

Gilfillan GD, Sullivan DJ, Haynes K, Parkinson T, Coleman DC, Gow NAR. *Candida dubliniensis*: phylogeny and putative virulence factors. Microbiology 1998: 144: 829-838.

Goldacre MJ, Milne LJR, Watt B, Loudon N, Vessey MP. Prevalence of yeasts and fungi other than *Candida albicans* in the vagina of normal young women. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1981: 88: 596-600.

Grimaudo NJ, Nesbitt WE, Clark WB. Coaggregation of *Candida albicans* with oral *Actinomyces* species. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1996: 11: 59-61.

Grimaudo NJ, Nesbitt WE. Coaggregation of *Candida albicans* with oral *Fusobacterium* species. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1997: 12: 168-173.

Haffajee AD, Socransky SS. Microbial etiological agents of destructive periodontal diseases. Periodontol 2000 1994: 5: 78-111.

Hasenclever HF, Mitchell WO. Antigenic studies of *Candida*. I. Observation of two antigenic groups in *Candida albicans*. J Bacteriol 1961a: 82: 570-573.

Hasenclever HF, Mitchell WO. Antigenic studies of *Candida*. III. Comparative pathogenicity of *Candida albicans* group A, group B, and *Candida stellatoidea*. J Bacteriol 1961b: 82: 578-581.

Hasenclever HF, Mitchell WO. Antigenic studies of *Candida*. IV. The relationship of the antigenic groups of *Candida albicans* to their isolation from various clinical specimens. Sabouraudia 1963: 2: 201-204.

Hazen KC. New and emerging yeast pathogens. Clin Microbiol Rev 1995: 8: 462-478.

Hellstein J, Vawter-Hugart H, Fotos P, Schmid J, Soll DR. Genetic similarity and phenotypic diversity of commensal and pathogenic strains of *Candida albicans* isolated from the oral cavity. J Clin Microbiol 1993: 31: 3190-3199.

Helovuo H. Periodontal superinfections. Thesis. Turku: University of Turku: 1986.

Higgs JM. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis: iron deficiency and the effects of iron therapy. Proc R Soc Med 1973: 66: 802-804.

Hodson JJ, Craig GT. The incidence of *Candida albicans* in the plaques of teeth of children. Dent Practit 1972: 22: 296-301.

Hoffman MP, Haidaris CG. Analysis of *Candida albicans* adhesion to salivary mucin. Infect Immun 1993: 61: 1940-1949.

Holmes AR, Cannon RD, Jenkinson HF. Interactions of *Candida albicans* with bacteria and salivary molecules in oral biofilms. J Ind Microbiol 1995: 15: 208-213.

Holmes AR, McNab R, Jenkinson HF. *Candida albicans* binding to the oral bacterium *Streptococcus gordonii* involves multiple adhesin-receptor interactions. Infect Immun 1996: 64: 4680-4685.

Holmstrup P, Axéll T. Classification and clinical manifestations of oral yeast infections. Acta Odontol Scand 1990: 48: 57-59.

Holzberg M, Artis WM. Hydroxamate siderophore production by opportunistic and systemic fungal pathogens. Infect Immun 1983: 40: 1134-1139.

Howard DH. Acquisition, transport, and storage of iron by pathogenic fungi. Clin Microbiol Rev 1999: 12: 394-404.

Howell SA, Anthony RM, Power E. Application of RAPD and restriction enzyme analysis to the study of oral carriage of *Candida albicans*. Lett Appl Microbiol 1996: 22: 125-128.

Hunter PR. A critical review of typing methods for *Candida albicans* and their applications. Crit Rev Microbiol 1991: 17: 417-434.

Imbert-Bernard C, Valentin A, Reynes J, Mallié M, Bastide JM. Relationship between fluconazole sensitivity of *Candida albicans* isolates from HIV positive patients and serotype, adherence and CD4+ lymphocyte count. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 1994: 13: 711-716.

International Society for Human and Animal Mycology. Nomenclature of mycoses. Sabouraudia 1980: 18: 78-84.

Jabra-Rizk MA, Baqui AAMA, Kelley JI, Falkler WA Jr, Merz WG, Meiller TF. Identification of *Candida dubliniensis* in a prospective study of patients in the United States. J Clin Microbiol 1999: 37: 321-326.

Jainkittivong A, Johnson DA, Yeh CK. The relationship between salivary histatin levels and oral yeast carriage. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1998: 13: 181-187.

Jenkinson HF, Lala HC, Shepherd MG. Coaggregation of *Streptococcus sanguis* and other streptococci with *Candida albicans*. Infect Immun 1990: 58: 1429-1436.

Joly S, Pujol C, Rysz M, Vargas K, Soll DR. Development and characterization of complex DNA fingerprinting probes for the infectious yeast *Candida dubliniensis*. J Clin Microbiol 1999: 37: 1035-1044.

Jones S, White G, Hunter PR. Increased phenotypic switching in strains of *Candida albicans* associated with invasive infections. J Clin Microbiol 1994: 32: 2869-2870.

Kamma JJ, Nakou M, Baehni PC. Clinical and microbiological characteristics of smokers with early onset periodontitis. J Periodontal Res 1999: 34: 25-33.

Kennedy MJ. Inhibition of *Candida albicans* by the anaerobic oral flora of mice *in vitro*. Sabouraudia 1981: 19: 205-208.

Kenney EB, Ash MM Jr. Oxidation reduction potential of developing plaque, periodontal pockets and gingival sulci. J Periodontol 1969: 40: 630-633.

Kirkpatrick WR, Revankar SG, McAtee RK, Lopez-Ribot JL, Fothergill AW, McCarthy DI, Sanche SE, Cantu RA, Rinaldi MG, Patterson TF. Detection of *Candida dubliniensis* in oropharyngeal samples from human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients in North America by primary CHROMagar Candida screening and susceptibility testing of isolates. J Clin Microbiol 1998: 36: 3007-3012.

Kleinegger CL, Lockhart SR, Vargas K, Soll DR. Frequency, intensity, species, and strains of oral *Candida* vary as a function of host age. J Clin Microbiol 1996: 34: 2246-2254.

Knight L, Fletcher J. Growth of *Candida albicans* in saliva: stimulation by glucose associated with antibiotics, corticosteroids, and diabetes mellitus. J Infect Dis 1971: 123: 371-377.

Kobayashi H, Shibata N, Suzuki S. Evidence for oligomannosyl residues containing both β -1,2 and α -1,2 linkages as a serotype A-specific epitope(s) in mannans of *Candida albicans*. Infect Immun 1992: 60: 2106-2109.

Koch Y, Koch HA. Zur Epidemiologie der Candidosen des Mund-Pharynx-Raumes. Mykosen 1981: 24: 197-202.

Korting HC, Ollert M, Georgii A, Fröschl M. *In vitro* susceptibilities and biotypes of *Candida albicans* isolates from the oral cavities of patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. J Clin Microbiol 1988: 26: 2626-2631.

Korting HC. Clinical spectrum of oral candidosis and its role in HIV-infected patients. Mycoses 1989: 32 (Suppl 2): 23-29.

Kozinn PJ, Taschdjian CL, Wiener H. Incidence and pathogenesis of neonatal candidiasis. Pediatrics 1958: 21: 421-429.

Kretschmar M, Hube B, Bertsch T, Sanglard D, Merker R, Schröder M, Hof H, Nichterlein T. Germ tubes and proteinase activity contribute to virulence of *Candida albicans* in murine peritonitis. Infect Immun 1999: 67: 6637-6642.

Krogh P, Hald B, Holmstrup P. Possible mycological etiology of oral mucosal cancer: catalytic potential of infecting *Candida albicans* and other yeasts in production of *N*-nitrosobenzylmethylamine. Carcinogenesis 1987a: 8: 1543-1548.

Krogh P, Holmstrup P, Thorn JJ, Vedtofte P, Pindborg JJ. Yeast species and biotypes associated with oral leukoplakia and lichen planus. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1987b: 63: 48-54.

Kwon-Chung KJ, Wickes BL, Merz WG. Association of electrophoretic karyotype of *Candida stellatoidea* with virulence for mice. Infect Immun 1988: 56: 1814-1819.

Larone H. Medically important fungi: a guide to identification. 3rd ed. Washington, DC: ASM Press: 1995. p. 18-89.

Lee KL, Buckley HR, Campbell CC. An amino acid liquid synthetic medium for the development of mycelial and yeast forms of *Candida albicans*. Sabouraudia 1975: 13: 148-153.

Lehner T. Chronic candidiasis. Br Dent J 1964: 116: 539-545.

Lehner T. Oral candidosis. Dent Pract 1967: 17: 209-216.

Lenander-Lumikari M. Inhibition of *Candida albicans* by the peroxidase/SCN-/H₂O₂ system. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1992: 7: 315-320.

Liede KE, Haukka JK, Hietanen JHP, Mattila MH, Rönkä H, Sorsa T. The association between smoking cessation and periodontal status and salivary proteinase levels. J Periodontol 1999: 70: 1361-1368.

Liljemark WF, Bloomquist CG. Normal microbial flora of the human body. In: Newman MG, Nisengard R, editors. Oral Microbiology and Immunology. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company: 1988. p. 135-144.

Lockhart SR, Fritch JJ, Meier AS, Schröppel K, Srikantha T, Galask R, Soll DR. Colonizing populations of *Candida albicans* are clonal in origin but undergo microevolution through C1 fragment reorganization as demonstrated by DNA fingerprinting and C1 sequencing. J Clin Microbiol 1995: 33: 1501-1509.

Lockhart SR, Reed BD, Pierson CL, Soll DR. Most frequent scenario for recurrent *Candida* vaginitis is strain maintenance with "substrain shuffling": demonstration by sequential DNA fingerprinting with probes Ca3, C1, and CARE2. J Clin Microbiol 1996: 34: 767-777.

Loesche WJ, Gusberti F, Mettraux G, Higgins T, Syed S. Relationship between oxygen tension and subgingival bacterial flora in untreated human periodontal pockets. Infect Immun 1983: 42: 659-667.

Loesche WJ. Ecology of the oral flora. In: Newman MG, Nisengard R, editors. Oral Microbiology and Immunology. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company: 1988. p. 351-366.

Lynch E, Beighton D. A comparison of primary root caries lesions classified according to colour. Caries Res 1994: 28: 233-239.

Magee BB, D'Souza TM, Magee PT. Strain and species identification by restriction fragment length polymorphisms in the ribosomal DNA repeat of *Candida* species. J Bacteriol 1987: 169: 1639-1643.

Martin MV, Lamb DJ. Frequency of *Candida albicans* serotypes in patients with denture-induced stomatitis and in normal denture wearers. J Clin Pathol 1982: 35: 888-891.

Matthews RC. Pathogenicity determinants of *Candida albicans*: potential targets for immunotherapy? Microbiology 1994: 140: 1505-1511.

McCourtie J, MacFarlane TW, Samaranayake LP. Effect of saliva and serum on the adherence of *Candida* species to chlorhexidine-treated denture acrylic. J Med Microbiol 1986: 21: 209-213.

McCullough MJ, Clemons KV, Stevens DA. Molecular and phenotypic characterization of genotypic *Candida albicans* subgroups and comparison with *Candida dubliniensis* and *Candida stellatoidea*. J Clin Microbiol 1999a: 37: 417-421.

McCullough MJ, Clemons KV, Stevens DA. Molecular epidemiology of the global and temporal diversity of *Candida albicans*. Clin Infect Dis 1999b: 29: 1220-1225.

McMullan-Vogel CG, Jüde HD, Ollert MW, Vogel C-W. Serotype distribution and secretory acid proteinase activity of *Candida albicans* isolated from the oral mucosa of patients with denture stomatitis. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1999: 14: 183-189.

Mehta SK, Stevens DA, Mishra SK, Feroze F, Pierson DL. Distribution of *Candida albicans* genotypes among family members. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 1999: 34: 19-25.

Mercure S, Sénéchal S, Auger P, Lemay G, Montplaisir S. *Candida albicans* serotype analysis by flow cytometry. J Clin Microbiol 1996: 34: 2106-2112.

Meurman JH, Rantonen P. Salivary flow rate, buffering capacity, and yeast counts in 187 consecutive adult patients from Kuopio, Finland. Scand J Dent Res 1994: 102: 229-234.

Miyakawa Y, Kagaya K, Fukazawa Y, Soe G. Production and characterization of agglutinating monoclonal antibodies against predominant antigenic factors for *Candida albicans*. J Clin Microbiol 1986: 23: 881-886.

Miyakawa Y, Kuribayashi T, Kagaya K, Suzuki M, Nakase T, Fukazawa Y. Role of specific determinants in mannan of *Candida albicans* serotype A in adherence to human buccal epithelial cells. Infect Immun 1992: 60: 2493-2499.

Miyasaki SH, Hicks JB, Greenspan D, Polacheck I, MacPhail LA, White TC, Agabian N, Greenspan JS. The identification and tracking of *Candida albicans* isolates from oral lesions in HIV-seropositive individuals. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1992: 5: 1039-1046.

Moran GP, Sullivan DJ, Henman MC, McCreary CE, Harrington BJ, Shanley DB, Coleman DC. Antifungal drug susceptibilities of oral *Candida dubliniensis* isolates from human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected and non-HIV-infected subjects and generation of stable fluconazole-resistant derivatives *in vitro*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1997: 41: 617-623.

Müller HL, Kirchhoff G. Serologische Typen von Candida albicans. Zentralbl Bakteriol 1969: 210: 114-121.

Nair RG, Samaranayake LP. The effect of oral commensal bacteria on candidal adhesion to denture acrylic surfaces. An *in vitro* study. APMIS 1996: 104: 339-349.

Nikawa H, Samaranayake LP, Tenovuo J, Pang KM, Hamada T. The fungicidal effect of human lactoferrin on *Candida albicans* and *Candida krusei*. Arch Oral Biol 1993: 38: 1057-1063.

Odds FC, Abbott AB. A simple system for the presumptive identification of *Candida albicans* and differentiation of strains within the species. Sabouraudia 1980: 18: 301-317.

Odds FC, Abbott AB. Modification and extension of tests for differentiation of *Candida* species and strains. Sabouraudia 1983: 21: 79-81.

Odds FC, Abbott AB, Reed TAG, Willmott FE. *Candida albicans* strain types from the genitalia of patients with and without *Candida* infection. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 1983a: 15: 37-43.

Odds FC, Abbott AB, Stiller RL, Scholer HJ, Polak A, Stevens DA. Analysis of *Candida albicans* phenotypes from different geographical and anatomical sources. J Clin Microbiol 1983b: 18: 849-857.

Odds FC. Candida infections: an overview. Crit Rev Microbiol 1987: 15: 1-5.

Odds FC. Candida and candidosis. 2nd ed. London: Baillière Tindall: 1988a. p. 7-15.

Odds FC. Candida and candidosis. 2nd ed. London: Baillière Tindall: 1988b. p. 68-92.

Odds FC. Candida and candidosis. 2nd ed. London: Baillière Tindall: 1988c. p. 93-114.

Odds FC, Webster CE, Fisk PG, Riley VC, Mayuranathan P, Simmons PD. *Candida* species and *C. albicans* biotypes in women attending clinics in genitourinary medicine. J Med Microbiol 1989: 29: 51-54.

Odds FC. Candida species and virulence. ASM News 1994: 60: 313-318.

Odds FC, Van Nuffel L, Dams G. Prevalence of *Candida dubliniensis* isolates in a yeast stock collection. J Clin Microbiol 1998: 36: 2869-2873.

Oliver DE, Shillitoe EJ. Effects of smoking on the prevalence and intraoral distribution of *Candida albicans*. J Oral Pathol 1984: 13: 265-270.

Ollila P, Niemelä M, Uhari M, Larmas M. Risk factors for colonization of salivary lactobacilli and candida in children. Acta Odontol Scand 1997: 55: 9-13.

O'Sullivan JM, Jenkinson HF, Cannon RC. Adhesion of *Candida albicans* to oral streptococci is promoted by selective adsorption of salivary proteins to the streptococcal cell surface. Microbiology 2000: 146: 41-48.

Parvinen T, Larmas M. The relation of stimulated salivary flow rate and pH to lactobacillus and yeast concentrations in saliva. J Dent Res 1981: 60: 1929-1935.

Pedersen GT. Yeast flora in mother and child. A mycological-clinical study of women followed up during pregnancy, the puerperium and 5-12 months after delivery, and of their children on the 7th day of life and at the age of 5-12 months. Dan Med Bull 1969: 16: 207-220.

Pfaller MA, Lockhart SR, Pujol C, Swails-Wenger JA, Messer SA, Edmond MB, Jones RN, Wenzel RP, Soll DR. Hospital specificity, region specificity, and fluconazole resistance of *Candida albicans* bloodstream isolates. J Clin Microbiol 1998: 36: 1518-1529.

Pienihäkkinen K, Scheinin A, Bánóczy J. Screening of caries in children through salivary lactobacilli and yeasts. Scand J Dent Res 1987: 95: 397-404.

Pincus DH, Coleman DC, Pruitt WR, Padhye AA, Salkin IF, Geimer M, Bassel A, Sullivan DJ, Clarke M, Hearn V. Rapid identification of *Candida dubliniensis* with commercial yeast identification systems. J Clin Microbiol 1999: 37: 3533-3539.

Pinjon E, Sullivan D, Salkin I, Shanley D, Coleman D. Simple, inexpensive, reliable, method for differentiation of *Candida dubliniensis* from *Candida albicans*. J Clin Microbiol 1998: 36: 2093-2095.

Polacheck I, Strahilevitz J, Sullivan D, Donnelly S, Salkin IF, Coleman DC. Recovery of *Candida dubliniensis* from non-human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients in Israel. J Clin Microbiol 2000: 38: 170-174.

Powderly WG, Robinson K, Keath EJ. Molecular typing of *Candida albicans* isolated from oral lesions of HIV-infected individuals. AIDS 1992: 6: 81-84.

Powderly WG, Robinson K, Keath EJ. Molecular epidemiology of recurrent oral candidiasis in human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients: evidence for two patterns of recurrence. J Infect Dis 1993: 168: 463-466

Price MF, Wilkinson ID, Gentry LO. Plate method for detection of phospholipase activity in *Candida albicans*. Sabouraudia 1982: 20: 7-14.

Pujol C, Joly S, Lockhart SR, Noel S, Tibayrenc M, Soll DR. Parity among the randomly amplified polymorphic DNA method, multilocus enzyme electrophoresis, and Southern blot hybridization with the moderately repetitive DNA probe Ca3 for fingerprinting *Candida albicans*. J Clin Microbiol 1997: 35: 2348-2358.

Rams TE, Babalola OO, Slots J. Subgingival occurrence of enteric rods, yeasts and staphylococci after systemic doxycycline therapy. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1990: 5: 166-168.

Rams TE, Slots J. Candida biotypes in human adult periodontitis. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1991: 6: 191-192.

Ray TL, Payne CD. Comparative production and rapid purification of *Candida* acid proteinase from protein-supplemented cultures. Infect Immun 1990: 58: 508-514.

Redding SW, Pfaller MA, Messer SA, Smith JA, Prows J, Bradley LL, Fothergill AW, Rinaldi MG. Variations in fluconazole susceptibility and DNA subtyping of multiple *Candida albicans* colonies from patients with AIDS and oral candidiasis suffering one or more episodes of infection. J Clin Microbiol 1997: 35: 1761-1765.

Rindum JL, Stenderup A, Holmstrup P. Identification of *Candida albicans* types related to healthy and pathological oral mucosa. J Oral Pathol Med 1994: 23: 406-412.

Robert F, Lebreton F, Bougnoux ME, Paugam A, Wassermann D, Schlotterer M, Tourte-Schaefer C, Dupouy-Camet J. Use of random amplified polymorphic DNA as a typing method for *Candida albicans* in epidemiological surveillance of a burn unit. J Clin Microbiol 1995: 33: 2366-2371.

Román MC, Sicilia LMJ. Preliminary investigation of *Candida albicans* biovars. J Clin Microbiol 1983: 18: 430-431.

Ruechel R. Virulence factors of *Candida* species. In: Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW, editors. Oral candidosis. London: Butterworth: 1990. p. 47-65.

Russell C, Lay KM. Natural history of *Candida* species and yeasts in the oral cavities of infants. Arch Oral Biol 1973: 18: 957-962.

Salyers AA, Whitt DD. Bacterial pathogenesis. A molecular approach. Washington, DC: ASM Press: 1994a. p. 30-46.

Salyers AA, Whitt DD. Bacterial pathogenesis. A molecular approach. Washington, DC: ASM Press: 1994b. p. 395-410.

Samaranayake LP, McCourtie J, MacFarlane TW. Factors affecting the *in vitro* adherence of *Candida albicans* to acrylic surfaces. Arch Oral Biol 1980: 25: 611-615.

Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW. A retrospective study of patients with recurrent chronic atrophic candidosis. Oral Surg 1981: 52: 150-153.

Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW. Factors affecting the *in-vitro* adherence of the fungal oral pathogen *Candida albicans* to epithelial cells of human origin. Arch Oral Biol 1982: 27: 869-873.

Samaranayake LP, Geddes DAM, Weetman DA, MacFarlane TW. Growth and acid production of *Candida albicans* in carbohydrate supplemented media. Microbios 1983: 37: 105-115.

Samaranayake LP, Hughes A, Weetman DA, MacFarlane TW. Growth and acid production of *Candida* species in human saliva supplemented with glucose. J Oral Pathol 1986a: 15: 251-254.

Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW, Lamey P-J, Ferguson MM. A comparison of oral rinse and imprint sampling techniques for the detection of yeast, coliform and *Staphylococcus aureus* carriage in the oral cavity. J Oral Pathol 1986b: 15: 386-388.

Samaranayake LP, Holmstrup P. Oral candidiasis and human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Oral Pathol Med 1989: 18: 554-564.

Samaranayake LP. Host factors and oral candidosis. In: Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW, editors. Oral candidosis. London: Butterworth: 1990a. p. 66-103.

Samaranayake LP. Introduction and historical aspects. In: Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW, editors. Oral candidosis. London: Butterworth: 1990b. p. 1-9.

Samaranayake LP, Yaacob HB. Classification of oral candidosis. In: Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW, editors. Oral candidosis. London: Butterworth: 1990. p. 124-132.

Sanchez V, Vazquez JA, Barth-Jones D, Dembry L, Sobel JD, Zervos MJ. Nosocomial acquisition of *Candida parapsilosis*: an epidemiologic study. Am J Med 1993: 94: 577-582.

Sangeorzan JA, Bradley SF, He X, Zarins LT, Ridenour GL, Tiballi RN, Kauffman CA. Epidemiology of oral candidiasis in HIV-infected patients: colonization, infection, treatment, and emergence of fluconazole resistance. Am J Med 1994: 97: 339-346.

Sautter RL, Brown WJ. Sequential vaginal cultures from normal young women. J Clin Microbiol 1980: 11: 479-484.

Saxen H, Virtanen M, Carlson P, Hoppu K, Pohjavuori M, Vaara M, Vuopio-Varkila J, Peltola H. Neonatal *Candida parapsilosis* outbreak with a high case fatality rate. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1995: 13: 776-781.

Scherer S, Stevens DA. Application of DNA typing methods to epidemiology and taxonomy of *Candida* species. J Clin Microbiol 1987: 25: 675-679.

Scherer S, Stevens DA. A *Candida albicans* dispersed, repeated gene family and its epidemiologic applications. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988: 85: 1452-1456.

Schmid J, Voss E, Soll DR. Computer-assisted methods for assessing strain relatedness in *Candida albicans* by fingerprinting with the moderately repetitive sequence Ca3. J Clin Microbiol 1990: 28: 1236-1243.

Schmid J, Odds FC, Wiselka MJ, Nicholson KG, Soll DR. Genetic similarity and maintenance of *Candida albicans* strains from a group of AIDS patients, demonstrated by DNA fingerprinting. J Clin Microbiol 1992: 30: 935-941.

Schmid J, Rotman M, Reed B, Pierson CL, Soll DR. Genetic similarity of *Candida albicans* strains from vaginitis patients and their partners. J Clin Microbiol 1993: 31: 39-46.

Schmid J, Herd S, Hunter PR, Cannon RD, Yasin MSM, Samad S, Carr M, Parr D, McKinney W, Schousboe M, Harris B, Ikram R, Harris M, Restrepo A, Hoyos G, Singh KP. Evidence for a general-purpose genotype in *Candida albicans*, highly prevalent in multiple geographical regions, patient types and types of infection. Microbiology 1999: 145: 2405-2413.

Schoofs A, Odds FC, Colebunders R, Ieven M, Goossens H. Use of specialised isolation media for recognition and identification of *Candida dubliniensis* isolates from HIV-infected patients. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 1997: 16: 296-300.

Schröppel K, Rotman M, Galask R, Mac K, Soll DR. Evolution and replacement of *Candida albicans* strains during recurrent vaginitis demonstrated by DNA fingerprinting. J Clin Microbiol 1994: 32: 2646-2654.

Schwyn B, Neilands JB. Universal chemical assay for the detection and determination of siderophores. Anal Biochem 1987: 160: 47-56.

Schönian G, Meusel O, Tietz H-J, Meyer W, Gräser Y, Tausch I, Presber W, Mitchell TG. Identification of clinical strains of *Candida albicans* by DNA fingerprinting with the polymerase chain reaction. Mycoses 1993: 36: 171-179.

Scully C, El-Kabir M, Samaranayake LP. *Candida* and oral candidosis: a review. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 1994: 5: 125-157.

Seelig MS. Mechanisms by which antibiotics increase the incidence and severity of candidiasis and alter the immunological defenses. Bacteriol Rev 1966: 30: 442-459.

Shankland GS, Richardson MD. Epidemiology of an outbreak of *Candida* endophthalmitis in heroin addicts: identification of possible source of infection by biotyping. J Med Vet Mycol 1988: 26: 199-202.

Sharp AM, Odds FC, Evans EGV. *Candida* strains from neonates in a special care baby unit. Arch Dis Child 1992: 67: 48-52.

Sherwood J, Gow NAR, Gooday GW, Gregory DW, Marshall D. Contact sensing in *Candida albicans*: a possible aid to epithelial penetration. J Med Vet Mycol 1992: 30: 461-469.

Shinoda T, Kaufman L, Padhye AA. Comparative evaluation of the Iatron serological Candida Check kit and the API 20C kit for identification of medically important *Candida* species. J Clin Microbiol 1981: 13: 513-518.

Sio JO, Minwalla FK, George RH, Booth IW. Oral candida: is dummy carriage the culprit? Arch Dis Child 1987: 62: 406-408.

Slots J. Subgingival microflora and periodontal disease. J Clin Periodontol 1979: 6: 351-382.

Slots J, Rams TE, Listgarten MA. Yeasts, enteric rods and pseudomonads in the subgingival flora of severe adult periodontitis. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1988: 3: 47-52.

Slots J, Feik D, Rams TE. Age and sex relationships of superinfecting microorganisms in periodontitis patients. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1990: 5: 305-308.

Slots J, Rams TE. New views on periodontal microbiota in special patient categories. J Clin Periodontol 1991: 18: 411-420.

Soll DR, Langtimm CJ, McDowell J, Hicks J, Galask R. High-frequency switching in *Candida* strains isolated from vaginitis patients. J Clin Microbiol 1987: 25: 1611-1622.

Soll DR, Galask R, Isley S, Rao TVG, Stone D, Hicks J, Schmid J, Mac K, Hanna C. Switching of *Candida albicans* during successive episodes of recurrent vaginitis. J Clin Microbiol 1989: 27: 681-690.

Soll DR, Galask R, Schmid J, Hanna C, Mac K, Morrow B. Genetic dissimilarity of commensal strains of *Candida* spp. carried in different anatomical locations of the same healthy women. J Clin Microbiol 1991: 29: 1702-1710.

Soll DR. High-frequency switching in Candida albicans. Clin Microbiol Rev 1992: 5: 183-203.

Sonck CE. On the incidence of yeast species from human sources in Finland. II. Yeasts from vaginal discharge. Mykosen 1978: 21: 412-416.

Staib F. Serum-proteins as nitrogen source for yeastlike fungi. Sabouraudia 1965: 4: 187-193.

Stallybrass FC. The incidence of the serological groups of *Candida albicans* in southern England. J Hyg Camb 1964: 62: 395-399.

Stevens DA, Odds FC, Scherer S. Application of DNA typing methods to *Candida albicans* epidemiology and correlations with phenotype. Rev Infect Dis 1990: 12: 258-266.

Stiller RL, Bennett JE, Scholer HJ, Wall M, Polak A, Stevens DA. Susceptibility to 5-fluorocytosine and prevalence of serotype in 402 *Candida albicans* isolates from the United States. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1982: 22: 482-487.

Strausbaugh LJ, Sewell DL, Ward TT, Pfaller MA, Heitzman T, Tjoelker R. High frequency of yeast carriage on hands of hospital personnel. J Clin Microbiol 1994: 32: 2299-2300.

Sullivan DJ, Westerneng TJ, Haynes KA, Bennett DE, Coleman DC. *Candida dubliniensis* sp. nov.: phenotypic and molecular characterization of a novel species associated with oral candidosis in HIV-infected individuals. Microbiology 1995: 141: 1507-1521.

Sullivan D, Haynes K, Bille J, Boerlin P, Rodero L, Lloyd S, Henman M, Coleman D. Widespread geographic distribution of oral *Candida dubliniensis* strains in human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals. J Clin Microbiol 1997: 35: 960-964.

Sullivan D, Coleman D. Candida dubliniensis: characteristics and identification. J Clin Microbiol 1998: 36: 329-334.

Sweet SP, Douglas LJ. Effect of iron concentration on siderophore synthesis and pigment production by *Candida albicans*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1991a: 80: 87-92.

Sweet SP, Douglas LJ. Effect of iron deprivation on surface composition and virulence determinants of *Candida albicans*. J Gen Microbiol 1991b: 137: 859-865.

Sziegoleit F, Sziegoleit A, Wetzel WE. Effect of dental treatment and/or local application of amphotericin B to carious teeth on oral colonization by *Candida*. Med Mycol 1999: 37: 345-350.

Tillonen J, Homann N, Rautio M, Jousimies-Somer H, Salaspuro M. Role of yeasts in the salivary acetaldehyde production from ethanol among risk groups for ethanol-associated oral cavity cancer. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1999: 23: 1409-1415.

Tintelnot K, Haase G, Seibold M, Bergmann F, Staemmler M, Franz T, Naumann D. Evaluation of phenotypic markers for selection and identification of *Candida dubliniensis*. J Clin Microbiol 2000: 38: 1599-1608.

Tobgi RS, Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW. *In vitro* susceptibility of *Candida* species to lysozyme. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1988: 3: 35-39.

Vandenbussche M, Swinne D. Yeasts oral carriage in denture wearers. Mykosen 1984: 27: 431-435.

Vazquez JA, Sanchez V, Dmuchowski C, Dembry LM, Sobel JD, Zervos MJ. Nosocomial acquisition of *Candida albicans*: an epidemiologic study. J Infect Dis 1993: 168: 195-201.

Vitkov L, Weitgasser R, Lugstein A, Noack MJ, Fuchs K, Krautgartner WD. Glycaemic disorders in denture stomatitis. J Oral Pathol Med 1999: 28: 406-409.

Voss A, Hollis RJ, Pfaller MA, Wenzel RP, Doebbeling BN. Investigation of the sequence of colonization and candidemia in nonneutropenic patients. J Clin Microbiol 1994: 32: 975-980.

Waggoner-Fountain LA, Walker MW, Hollis RJ, Pfaller MA, Ferguson JEI, Wenzel RP, Donowitz LG. Vertical and horizontal transmission of unique *Candida* species to premature newborns. Clin Infect Dis 1996: 22: 803-808.

Waltimo TMT, Sirén EK, Torkko HLK, Olsen I, Haapasalo MPP. Fungi in therapy-resistant apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 1997: 30: 96-101.

Waltimo T. Yeasts in apical periodontitis. Thesis. Helsinki: University of Helsinki: 2000.

Webster CE, Odds FC. Growth of pathogenic *Candida* isolates anaerobically and under elevated concentrations of CO₂ in air. J Med Vet Mycol 1986: 25: 47-53.

Weems JJ Jr. *Candida parapsilosis*: epidemiology, pathogenicity, clinical manifestations, and antimicrobial susceptibility. Clin Infect Dis 1992: 14: 756-766.

Weig M, Werner E, Frosch M, Kasper H. Limited effect of refined carbohydrate dietary supplementation on colonization of the gastrointestinal tract of healthy subjects by *Candida albicans*. Am J Clin Nutr 1999: 69: 1170-1173.

Welsh J, McClelland M. Fingerprinting genomes using PCR with arbitrary primers. Nucleic Acids Res 1990: 18: 7213-7218.

Whelan WL, Kirsch DR, Kwon-Chung KJ, Wahl SM, Smith PD. *Candida albicans* in patients with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: absence of a novel or hypervirulent strain. J Infect Dis 1990: 162: 513-518.

White TC, Miyasaki SH, Agabian N. Three distinct secreted aspartyl proteinases in *Candida albicans*. J Bacteriol 1993: 175: 6126-6133.

White TC. Antifungal drug resistance in Candida albicans. ASM News 1997: 63: 427-433.

Williams JG, Kubelik AR, Livak KJ, Rafalski JA, Tingey SV. DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucleic Acids Res 1990: 18: 6531-6535.

Williamson MI, Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW. Biotypes of *Candida albicans* using the API 20C system. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1986a: 37: 27-29.

Williamson MI, Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW. Biotypes of oral *Candida albicans* and *Candida tropicalis* isolates. J Med Vet Mycol 1986b: 24: 81-84.

Williamson MI, Samaranayake LP, MacFarlane TW. A new simple method for biotyping *Candida albicans*. Microbios 1987: 51: 159-167.

Willis AM, Coulter WA, Fulton CR, Hayes JR, Bell PM, Lamey PJ. Oral candidal carriage and infection in insulin-treated diabetic patients. Diabet Med 1999: 16: 675-679.

Wilson LA, Kuehne JW, Hall SW, Ahearn DG. Microbial contamination in ocular cosmetics. Am J Ophthalmol 1971: 71: 1298-1302.

Wu T, Samaranayake LP, Cao BY, Wang J. *In-vitro* proteinase production by oral *Candida albicans* isolates from individuals with and without HIV infection and its attenuation by antimycotic agents. J Med Microbiol 1996: 44: 311-316.

Wu T, Samaranayake LP. The expression of secreted aspartyl proteinases of *Candida* species in human whole saliva. J Med Microbiol 1999: 48: 711-720.

Xu YY, Samaranayake LP. Oral *Candida albicans* biotypes in Chinese patients with and without oral candidosis. Arch Oral Biol 1995: 40: 577-579.

Xu JP, Boyd CM, Livingston E, Meyer W, Madden JF, Mitchell TG. Species and genotypic diversities and similarities of pathogenic yeasts colonizing women. J Clin Microbiol 1999: 37: 3835-3843.

Zambon JJ. Periodontal diseases: microbial factors. Ann Periodontol 1996: 1: 879-925.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The present study was carried out at the Institute of Dentistry, Department of Periodontology, University of Helsinki from 1996 to 2000. I wish to thank Professor Jukka H. Meurman, the Dean of the Institute of Dentistry, for providing the research facilities.

My deepest gratitude goes to Docent Sirkka Asikainen, my enthusiastic and excellent supervisor. I have been fortunate to have had the opportunity to be supervised by her. I cannot but admire and envy the true love and passion she has for science.

I wish to thank Docent Maria Saarela, my second supervisor who resolutely and thoroughly taught me the basics in laboratory work and guided me into the world of microbiology.

I am grateful to Professor Jörgen Slots for his valuable contribution and interest in my work. I sincerely thank my co-authors Professor Satu Alaluusua, Professor Sinikka Pirinen, Professor Jaakko Perheentupa, Professor Emel Ökte, Docent Hannele Jousimies-Somer, Docent Aino Takala, Docent Eija Könönen, Basak Dogan, PhD, Juha Paatsama, Hanna-Leena Alakomi, Pirkko Koukila-Kähkölä and Ritva Syrjänen. I especially want to thank Basak for her friendship and support, which I truly value.

I warmly thank the official referees, Docent Malcolm Richardson and Docent Marianne Lenander-Lumikari for reviewing this thesis and providing constructive suggestions and criticism to its improvement.

I wish to thank Carol Norris for revising my English in the thesis.

I am grateful to the personnel at the Institute of Dentistry, especially Kirsti Kari, Heini Torkko and Anne Bryk for their laboratory help and Annikki Sirén for technical assistance.

I express my warm thanks to the members of our research group for help and interest in my work.

This study was financially supported by the Finnish Dental Society, the Finnish Women Dentists Fund, Oskar Öflund's Foundation, the Academy of Finland and the Ulla Hjelt Fund, Foundation for Paediatric Research, Finland.

I especially want to thank Annikki and Pekka Antinheimo, and my other relatives and friends for keeping my spirits high.

My mother, father, and sister, Katariina, I dearly thank for their support and encouragement.

Onni deserves thanks for bringing happiness and joy into my life; and perhaps a bit of luck, too.

And finally, Jussi, I want to thank you for your love and your faith in me.

Helsinki, May 2000